



Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2015

Principals' Perceptions of the Bully Busters Program in Combating Cyberbullying in Elementary Schools

Sheila Ann Cuffy Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons, and the Instructional Media

Design Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Sheila Cuffy

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Dennis Beck, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Asoka Jayasena, Committee Member, Education Faculty
Dr. Paula Dawidowicz, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2015

Abstract

Principals' Perceptions of the Bully Busters Program in Combating Cyberbullying in Elementary Schools

by

Sheila A. Cuffy

MA, Purdue University, 2005 BS, Indiana University, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy

Walden University

June 2015

Abstract

Over time and with both the increasing ubiquitousness of the Internet and children's technological knowledge at young ages, cyberbullying has grown more widespread and acts of bullying have become more intense. However, little is known about the effectiveness of different antibullying programs for decreasing cyberbullying behaviors. This study addressed that gap in the literature by exploring one elementary school's use of the Bully Busters program for combating cyberbullying. The decision-making model was used as the conceptual framework for this qualitative interview study. Participants were 3 principals from 3 schools using the program. Data were gathered from the participants via interviews and classroom observations. NVivo software was used to organize the data analysis processes through open coding to identify themes and patterns. Principals indicated the Bully Busters program was effective for preventing bullying and believed it would be effective for combating cyberbullying; they also demonstrated clear plans for implementing the program more widely to combat cyberbullying. As noted during observations, the principals effectively implemented the Bully Busters program. Results of this study may contribute to positive social change by providing school principals with insight into how the Bully Busters program may be implemented to deter cyberbullying in their schools. Decreased rates of cyberbullying in schools may result in improved school experiences for all children.

Principals' Perceptions of the Bully Busters Program in Combating Cyberbullying in Elementary Schools

by

Sheila A. Cuffy

MA, Purdue University, 2005 BS, Indiana University, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy

Walden University

June 2015

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my husband André, my daughters

Alisha and NyAsia, my sister Vickie, my brothers Dan and Jerry, my father Herbert, and
my mother Janie who have proven to be a tower of strength to me during this process.

Your prayers and encouragement helped me understand the importance of finishing what
I start. I hope this study will serve as an instrument of hope and guidance to all who read
it.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my committee members for their guidance and direction. Dr. Dennis Beck for deciding to help me complete my journey in midstream, Dr. Asoka Jayasena and Dr. Paula Dawidowicz for sticking with me through this whole process.

Special thanks to Susan Blatnik, Dr. Toledo, and Dr. Shepard for their emotional support.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	1
Problem Statement	6
Purpose of the Study	7
Research Questions	8
Nature of the Study	8
Conceptual Framework	9
Definitions of Terms	10
Scope and Delimitations	11
Assumptions and Limitations	11
Significance of the Study	12
Summary	13
Chapter 2: Literature Review	15
Characteristics of the Bully and Bullying Victim	16
Characteristics of the Cyberbully and Cyberbullying Victim	18
Cyberbullying	22
The Role of Digital Abuse in Cyberbullying	25
Incidence of Digital Abuse	26
Sexting and Digital Dating Abuse	27
Digital Discrimination	28
Responding to Digital Abuse in Cyberbullying	29

Effects of Bullying and Cyberbullying	30
Effects on the Victim	30
Effects on the Bully and Bystanders	32
A Recognized Need to Take Action Against Bullying and Cyberbulling	33
White House Conference on Bullying	35
Evolving Laws to Address Cyberbullying	36
Bullying and Cyberbullying Prevention	38
Olweus Bullying Intervention Program	39
Bully Busters Program	40
I Can Problem Solve for Schools	43
Bully Proofing Your School	44
Promoting Alternative Thinking Strategies	44
Best Practices in Bullying Prevention	45
A Thin Line	46
Summary	46
Chapter 3: Research Method	48
Research Design and Rationale	48
Role of the Researcher	52
Population and Sample	53
Instrumentation	55
Interviews	55
Classroom Observation Checklist Form	57

Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection Procedures	57
Data Analysis Plan	60
Issues of Trustworthiness	61
Ethical Procedures	64
Summary	65
Chapter 4: Results	67
Setting	67
Demographics	68
Data Collection	68
Data Analysis	69
Evidence of Trustworthiness	70
Results	71
Central Research Question.	72
Theme 1A: Shortcomings and Drawbacks of the Bully Busters Program	72
Theme 1B: The Bully Busters Program Is Highly Effective	74
Theme 1C: Participants Supported Broader Application of the Program	75
Theme 1D: Participants Need To Be Proactive	77
Secondary Research Question	78
Theme 2A: Participants Are Knowledgeable About Bullying and Cyberbull	ying78
Theme 2B: Participants Have Experience with the Bully Buster Program	80
Theme 2C: Participants Are Knowledgeable About the Bully Buster Progra	m 82
Theme 2D: Principals Properly Implement the Bully Buster Program	84

Summary	87
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	89
Interpretation of the Findings	90
Limitations of the Study	96
Recommendations for Future Research	97
Implications	98
Conclusion	100
References	102
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	124
Appendix B: Principal Observation Checklist	126
Appendix C: Consent Form	128

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Bullying is a behavior that involves an exercise of power that adversely affects victims of the behavior (Hinduja & Patchin, 2009). Bullying is particularly widespread among children, occurs both in schools (Henry et al., 2014) and in the community (Ipsos, 2012; Juvonen & Graham, 2014), and can have a damaging impact on students' emotional well-being (Ybarra, Mitchell, & Espelage, 2012), and academic performance (Nakamoto & Schwartz, 2010). The rising use of electronic means of communication has caused the emergence of a new form of bullying referred to as cyberbullying, which Li (2008) defined as "bullying via electronic communication tools such as email, cell phone, personal digital assistant (PDA), instant messaging, or the World Wide Web" (p. 224). Similarly, Smith et al. (2008) defined cyberbullying as "an aggressive, intentional act carried out by a group or individual, using electronic forms of contact, repeatedly and over time against a victim who cannot easily defend him or herself' (p. 376). Various agencies and educational institutions have developed and implemented anti-bullying programs; however, little is known about how effective these programs are for combating cyberbullying (Bauman & Bellmore, 2015). This issue is the focus of this study. However, before extrapolating on the study problem and describing the other critical components of this study, I provide background information associated with bullying and cyberbullying.

Background

Although the term *bullying* has been defined differently by various agencies and institutions, even by some agencies that are interrelated, the underlying concepts are generally the same. For example, the Health Resources and Services Administration

(HRSA; 2010b) defined *bullying* as "aggressive behavior that is intentional and that involves an imbalance of power or strength. Often, it is repeated over time and can take many forms" (para. 1), and the stopbullying.gov (n.d.a) program defined it as "unwanted, aggressive behavior among school-aged children that involves a real or perceived power imbalance" (para. 1). The term *power imbalance* refers to differences among children based on their physical strength, access to information likely to embarrass another, affluence, or popularity (stopbullying.gov, n.d.a). This imbalance of power emboldens the bully to seek to control others perceived as inferior, powerless, or vulnerable (stopbullying.gov, n.d.a).

Typical bullying behaviors include deliberately making threats, spreading rumors, assaulting someone physically or verbally, and excluding someone from a social group (stopbullying.gov, n.d.a). Bullying behaviors that require the use of interpersonal communication with people other than the bully, such as spreading rumors or manipulating relationships, are considered indirect methods of bullying, while bullying behaviors that include immediate contact with the victim in some way, such as name calling or pushing, are considered direct methods of bullying (Juvonen & Graham, 2014). However, a solitary domineering deed does not constitute bullying; rather, it is the actual repetition, or the risk of repetition, of behavior that is deemed to constitute bullying (stopbullying.gov, n.d.a).

Estimates of the incidence of bullying have varied over the years but do show a history of this behavior. In a Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children report on bullying in 2005-2006, 11% of 12- to 18-year-old students in the United States reported being bullied two or more times while at school (Wang & Iannotti, 2012). By 2011,

incidences of bullying among this same age demographic had increased to 28% (Robers, Kemp, & Truman, 2013). Other researchers have presented incidence rates regarding specific types of bullying behaviors. For example, with respect to bullying related to sexually explicit communication in particular, Ybarra, Mitchell, and Espelage (2012) found that 18% of 10-15 year olds had experienced this type of bullying in school in the year prior to their participation in the study.

Cyberbullying, although similar to other forms of bullying, is distinguished by the fact that it takes place online and involves the use of cellular phones, emails, and the Internet (Ipsos, 2012; National Crime Prevention Council [NCPC], 2012). The cyberbully can be the victim's classmate, an online acquaintance, or an anonymous user (NCPC, 2012). The growing ubiquity of computers as well as access to the Internet and participation in social networking sites such as Facebook, has resulted in increased incidence of cyberbullying. In fact, cyberbullying in social networking cites increasingly has become an all too common extension of bullying in schools and is becoming an intrinsic part of the process of growing up in a technologically advanced society (Ipsos, 2012).

Although cyberbullying has been identified as one of the major antisocial and delinquent behaviors of adolescents (Ma, 2011), published rates of the incidence of cyberbullying vary. Reasons for these variations include differences in research designs and methods, sample sizes, demographics, control factors, and duration of the follow-up research period (Klomek, Sourander, & Gould, 2010). Despite differences in reported study results, that cyberbullying occurs and may occur to an alarming degree is clearly indicated in the literature both globally and nationally.

Based on a summary of literature, Tokunaga (2010) estimated that approximately 20–40% of all young people have been victims of cyberbullies. However, Hinduja and Patchin (2010) found that 11% of adolescents in their study admitted to cyberbullying using one or more forms of cyberbullying and doing so on at least two or more occasions during the previous 30 days. In addition, 20% admitted to cyberbullying others in their lifetimes (Hinduja & Patchin, 2013). Reported rates of cyberbullying by offenders were slightly lower in Gualdo, Hunter, Durkin, Arnaiz, and Maquilón's study, where 8% of the study sample cyberbullied their peers. On the other hand, results of the MTV and Associated Press (2011) study indicated that 56% of 14-24 year old reported having been cyberbullied. According to Hinduja and Patchin (2010), cyberbullies most often (23.1%) harassed others by posting comments about them online to elicit laughter from others. In a more recent study of 5,589 youths between the ages of 12 and 18 (51% male participants and 49% female participants), Barboza (2015) found four categories of victims. Of the victims, 3.1% were had been both bullied and cyberbullied (highly victimized); 11.6% had been victims of relational bullying, verbal bullying, and cyberbullying; 8% had been victims of relational bullying, verbal bullying, and physical bullying but not cyberbullying.

With regard to cyberbullying victims, in a global study of 18,687 parents from 24 countries, Ipsos (2012) found that 12% of the parents reported their child having been the victim of cyberbullying, 24% were aware of a cyberbullying victim in the community, and 60% said the cyberbullying events occurred over social media sites like MySpace and Facebook. The role of social media in the incidence of cyberbullying was underscored by a ConsumerReports.org (2011) survey on cyberbullying in the US which

indicated that in 2010, 1 million children had been cyberbullied on just the social networking site Facebook alone. According to ConsumerReports.org, cyberbullying occurs more commonly via social networking sites and Instant Messenger than via emails, chatrooms, or gaming sites.

In a study of 1,378 adolescences under the age of 18, Hinduja and Patchin (2008) found that over 32% of boys and over 36% of girls were victims of cyberbullying. However, in a review of cyberbullying articles in peer-reviewed journals, Patchin and Hinduja (2012) found that cyberbullying victimization rates ranged from 5.5% to 72%, with an average of 24.4%. With regard to teens who were cyberbullied in the 30 days prior to participating in the studies, the majority of studies included rates that ranged from 6% to 30% (Patchin & Hinduja, 2012). These findings from other studies were consistent with Patchin and Hinduja's own research in which they found that the percentage of youth who had experienced cyberbullying at some point in their lives ranged from 18.8% to 40.6%, with an average of 27.3%. Burgess-Proctor, Hinduja and Patchin (2010) also conducted a study on the incidence of cyberbullying. However, the 3,141 adolescent Internet users included in this research were all female and between the ages of 8 and 17. Of the participants, 38.3% reported being cyberbullied, 45.8 % reported being ignored by peers, 42.9% reported being disrespected, and 11.2% reported being threatened (Burgess-Proctor et al., 2010).

The Centers for Disease Control (Kann et al., 2013) reported that the incidence of cyberbullying victimization varies based on gender, ethnicity, and grade level. When compared to male students (8.5%), female students (21.0%) reported being cyberbullied at high rates (Kann et al., 2013). Cyberbullying victimization was highest among White

students (16.9%; Kann et al., 2013). Hispanic students (12.8%) were the next most victimized group, followed by Black students (8.7%; Kann et al., 2013). When gender was considered along with ethnicity, the order of victimization from the most victimized to the least victimized did not change. White male students (8.7%) and White female students (25.2%) were cyberbullied more than Hispanic male students (8.3%) and Hispanic female students (17.1%), who were cyberbullied more than Black male students (6.9%) and Black female students (10.5%; Kann et al., 2013). With regard to grade level, rates of cyberbullying victimization decreased between freshman (16.1%) and senior year (13.5%). Although this trend was similar for female students in particular (Grade 9, 22.8%; Grade 10, 21.9%; Grade 11, 20.6%; Grade 12, 18.3%), rates for male students did not decrease sequentially (Grade 9, 9.4%; Grade 10, 7.2%; Grade 11, 8.9%; Grade 12, 8.6%; Kann et al., 2013).

Like bullying, cyberbullying considerably and negatively impacts victims (Barboza, 2015; Hinduja & Patchin, 2010). On the other hand, a positive school environment can negatively affect the incidence of bullying (Wang, Berry, & Swearer, 2013). This study is needed because it has the potential to uncover a means of combating cyberbullying using the Bully Busters program, a currently established, and easily accessible and implemented program.

Problem Statement

Over time and with both the increasing ubiquitousness of the Internet and children's technological knowledge at young ages, cyberbullying has grown more widespread and acts of bullying have become easier to perpetrate (Festl & Quandt, 2013). Although cyberbullying is proliferating in elementary schools (Verlinden et al., 2014),

cyberbullying behaviors. In particular, during the preliminary literature review conducted for this study, no studies were found in which researchers explored the efficacy of the Bully Busters program for reducing cyberbullying. (Although Brooks [2004] and Bell [2008] explored aspects of the Bully Busters program, the focus of each study was on bullying in general rather than cyberbullying.) This lack of literature on the efficacy of the Bully Busters program for reducing cyberbullying is problematic because school administrators could use insight about the program's efficacy (a) to make informed decisions about implementing antibullying programs at their schools and (b) to combat cyberbullying in their schools and communities.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to gain insight into the principals' perceptions of the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying in elementary schools. Although the Bully Busters program is designed to address bullying behavior in general, because of the growing incidence of cyberbullying in schools and communities nationwide, it is important to determine the potential for the Bully Busters program to deter cyberbullying as well. Also, Horne, Bartoloucci, and Newman-Carlson (2003) identified the Bully Busters program as one predicated on the implementation process and recognized this process as crucial to the success of the Bully Busters program. For this reason, a secondary purpose in this study was to identify strategies for implementing an antibullying program as a means of combating cyberbullying. This study is important because school administrators could use insight generated from this study about the efficacy of the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying (a) to make informed

decisions about implementing antibullying programs at their schools and (b) to combat cyberbullying in their schools and communities. In addition, results of this study will be a means of lessening the gap in the literature with regard to the effectiveness of the Bully Busters program for combating cyberbullying.

Research Questions

Two research questions were developed to reflect the purposes of this study. The central research question was: What are principals' perceptions with regard to the key factors of implementing the Bully Busters program as a means of combatting cyberbullying? The secondary research question was: How can principal knowledge, experience, and implementation of the Bully Busters program contribute to the effective use of the program to prevent/combat cyberbullying in schools?

Nature of the Study

Rather than to test theories or make generalizations about the Bully Busters program based on quantitative analyses, the exploration in this study was based on gaining thorough insight about conditions pertaining to the use of the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying. Research that is based on developing an in-depth understanding of a human or social phenomenon is best conducted using qualitative methods (Creswell, 2013). Thus, this study was designed to be qualitative in nature.

As described previously, the Bully Busters program is a comprehensive bullying intervention and prevention program. The purpose of the program is to teach children socially acceptable values that will help them understand how to treat others with dignity (Horne et al., 2003). The main focus of many of the strategies incorporated in the Bully

Busters program is improving self-awareness for both potential bullies and victims (Horne et al., 2003).

To gain insight into the principals' perceptions of the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying in elementary schools and identify strategies for implementing an antibullying program as a means of combating cyberbullying, the main and secondary purposes of this study, respectively, data were collected in one school district in northeastern Indiana from three principals who implemented the Bully Busters program in their schools. Specifically, data were collected through interviews and observations. Data were analyzed using NVivo software to categorize the data and identify patterns and themes.

Conceptual Framework

As the conceptual model for this study, I chose a model of decision-making. Decision-making described by Tarter and Hoy (1998) is "rational, deliberative, purposeful action, beginning with the development of a decision strategy and moving through implementation and appraisal of results" (p.214). According to Lunenburg (2010), there are two main types of decision-making models, the rational model and the bounded rationality model. In the rational model, multiple solutions are generated and evaluated; the best solution is then implemented (Lunenburg, 2010). If the implemented solution is not successful for any reason at any time, new solutions may be generated, evaluated, and implemented (Lunenburg, 2010). Although the rational model is logically sequential, it also is iterative such that previous decisions can be used to make future decisions (Lunenburg, 2010).

In comparison to the rational model, the bounded rationality model indicates a decision process based on incomplete information about the problem, the alternatives, or both (Lunenburg, 2010). Moreover, because of the deficit in available information, decisions made in the bounded rationality model are, at least in part, dependent on other less logical approaches (Lunenburg, 2010).

This model is appropriate to use in my study because it will provide a means of translating the participants' perspectives into action that may prompt change in the school with regard to practices for deterring cyberbullying. In particular, by calling attention to principles' perspectives regarding the value of the Bully Busters program to combat bullying in general and the potential capacity to implement the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying, I may initiate the generation of alternatives in the decision-making process with regard to options for deterring cyberbullying.

Definitions of Terms

Bullying "is any unwanted aggressive behavior(s) by another youth or group of youths who are not siblings or current dating partners that involves an observed or perceived power imbalance and is repeated multiple times or is highly likely to be repeated. Bullying may inflict harm or distress on the targeted youth including physical, psychological, social, or educational harm (Gladden, Vivolo-Kantor, Hamburger, & Lumpkin, 2014, p. 7). Although bullying can manifest in various forms such as hitting, kicking, threatening, teasing, or name-calling (HRSA, 2010b), verbal bullying consistently has been identified as the most common type of bullying among both girls and boys (Olweus, 1993; Roland, 1989; Smith & Sharp, 1994; HRSA, 2010b).

Cyberbullying is "the use of information and communication technologies to support deliberate, repeated, and hostile behavior by an individual or group that is intended to harm others" (Belsey, 2005, p. 2) or embarrass them (Patchin & Hinduja, 2006). It refers specifically to the ongoing use (Hinduja & Patchin, 2010) of cellular phones, emails, and the Internet to act aggressively toward another person (Ipsos, 2012; NCPC, 2012).

Scope and Delimitations

The purpose of this study was to gain insight into principals' perceptions of the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying in elementary schools. Thus, the scope of this study was limited to participants' perspectives regarding bullying, cyberbullying, and the Bully Busters program. The study was delimited to elementary school principals in one school district in Northeast Indiana who were instrumental in implementing the Bully Busters program at their schools and who actively were implementing the Bully Busters program in their schools at the time of this study.

Assumptions and Limitations

During the development of this study, I made two critical assumptions. First, I assumed that the principals included in this study were knowledgeable about the Bully Busters program and thus would be able to offer valuable insight that could be used to answer the research questions posed for this study. This assumption could have been limiting in my study because principals' lack of knowledge about the Bully Busters program would have hindered the collection of relevant data. To help ensure this was not the case, I chose principals who were instrumental in implementing the Bully Busters program in their respective schools and who were implementing the program at the time

of this study. Second, I assumed that the principals would be honest in their responses. It is possible that principals would not be completely forthcoming with their perspectives because they wished to help me be successful as a researcher and thus provide me with responses they felt would be most appropriate rather than responses that accurately reflected their experiences and perspectives. This condition could have been limiting in my study because my interpretations of the phenomenon under study would have been tainted by inaccurate data. To help minimize the chance of this occurring, I began the interview with demographic questions and two background questions that I anticipated would help participants relax so that when I asked questions about their perspectives pertaining to the Bully Busters program specifically, they would feel comfortable sharing with me honestly. In addition, it is likely that at the principal level, the participants understood the importance of providing honest responses and therefore did respond honestly to the interview questions.

One additional limitation was identified in this study. Because this study was limited to one population (elementary school principals) and one geographic location (Northern Indiana), the findings are not generalizable and may not be transferrable beyond the immediate sample in this study. This means that results generated in this study may not apply to principals at the middle or high school levels or principals in other school districts in Indiana or other states.

Significance of the Study

This study is significant because it could lead to positive social change in the form of improved safety for school aged children but also the development of responsible and tolerate citizens. By conducting this study, I have generated data that may prompt school

administrators to consider (i.e., through a planned decision-making process) how they may use the Bully Busters program not only to combat traditional bullying in their schools but also cyberbullying. In a similar fashion, school administrators might be prompted to consider modifying aspects of the program to expand its impact, particularly in the home and community environments. By engaging parents and the community in the effort to educate students about bullying and cyberbullying, a greater impact may be recognized. In light of the increasingly evident incidence of cyberbullying in schools nationwide, the potential for this study to uncover a means of combating cyberbullying by using an already implemented antibullying program (Bully Busters) makes this study both valuable and significant.

Summary

Since the onset of the digital age, traditional bullying in schools has transformed into cyberbullying, bullying behaviors exhibited through various forms of digital communication, including mobile phones, emails, and the Internet. Bullying, in any form, can have adverse physical, mental, and emotional effects on students. One antibully program, the Bully Busters program, has been found to be effective in decreasing the incidence of bullying in elementary schools; however, little is known about the effectiveness of antibullying programs for decreasing cyberbullying behaviors. For this reason, the purpose of this study was to gain insight into the principals' perceptions of the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying in elementary schools. Based on this purpose, the conceptual framework for this study was a model of decision making, and research questions for this study were focused on principals' perceptions regarding the implementation of the Bully Busters program and its application to combat

cyberbullying. Data for this qualitative study were collected using face-to-face interviews and observations, and data were analyzed using NVivo software.

Two primary assumptions were made in this study: (a) that principals participating in this study were knowledgeable about the Bully Busters program, and (b) that participants would answer the interview questions honestly. Limitations of the study included the potential for participants to be poor sources of information regarding the phenomenon under study and that the results of this study are not generalizable to the larger population. The scope of the study was limited to aspects of bullying, cyberbullying, and the Bully Busters program, and the study was delimited to elementary principals in one school district in Northern Indiana. This significance of this study was based on the premise of the potential for social change through decreased incidents of cyberbullying resulting from the implementation of the Bully Busters program toward this end.

There are four remaining chapters in this study. Chapter 2 consists of literature related to bullying and cyberbullying. Chapter 3 includes the presentation of the study methodology. Chapter 4 contains the presentation of the study results. Chapter 5 is the discussion of the results and concluding remarks.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

At the time of this study, the incidence of cyberbullying was proliferating in elementary schools; however, little was known about the effectiveness of antibullying programs for decreasing cyberbullying behaviors. In particular, I was not able to locate any studies in which researchers explored the efficacy of the Bully Busters program for reducing cyberbullying. Thus, the purpose of this study was to gain insight into the principals' perceptions of the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying in elementary schools.

It is evident that steps need to be taken to decrease the incidence of cyberbullying. With the ever-increasing availability of technological devices and the use of digital communication applications, the potential for the incidence of cyberbullying to increase is great. This condition is highly concerning considering the extent of the mental and emotional damage it can cause not only for cyberbully victims but for offenders and bystanders as well.

To conduct this literature review, I accessed sources through the Walden
University library databases EBSCOhost and Education Research Complete. In addition,
I used the Google search engine to access Google Scholar and the Questia Online
Library. Using these search tools, I gathered scholarly peer-reviewed journals, books, and
magazine articles relevant to this study. Key phrases in the search included: *Bully Busters, impact of Bully Busters, bullying prevention, and cyberbully prevention.* When
possible, I limited the review to current sources. When I included older sources, I did so
because they were seminal works, works by authors germane to the field of study,

appropriate for demonstrating patterns over time, or otherwise especially pertinent to the discussion.

Characteristics of the Bully and Bullying Victim

Bullies typically have the need to control their victims (Gualdo et al., 2015) and hold them themselves in high regard (Juvonen & Graham, 2014). They are motivated to act by public opinion, which often contributes to their perception that their bullying behavior is either less damaging to their victims than it truly is or in some cases, deserved (Juvonen & Graham, 2014). Bullies also may perceive the lack of response from victims as a form of agreement that the behavior is appropriate or warranted (Juvonen & Graham, 2014). In addition, bullies tend to receive special education services and lack the ability to engage in positive social behaviors (Swearer, Wang, Maag, Siebecker, & Frerichs, 2012). Based on numerous empirical studies, Wang and Ianotti (2012) suggested that bullies are more likely than their peers or bullying victims to be substance abusers and violent.

According to some researchers, gender is related to bullying behavior. For example, Gualdo et al. (2015) found that of the 161 12-20 year old students who participated in their study, boys were more likely than girls to be bullies (16, 57.1% vs. 12, 42.9%, respectively). With regard to more specific types of bullying, other researchers found similar results. In a study of 4,017 early elementary school children, Verlinden, Veenstra, et al. (2014) asked students to nominate their peers as bullies in five categories: verbal bullying, material bullying, physical bullying, relational bullying, and peer rejection. In all cases except for relational bullying in which boys and girls were nominated equally, boys were more often nominated as bullies than girls were. With

regard to the type of bullying behavior in which boys and girls engage, Connell, Schell-Busey, Pearce, and Negro (2013) found that boys were more likely to report engaging in direct bullying than girls were; 30.3% of boys reported having pushed, kicked, or hit someone else in the 3 months prior to data collection compared to 22.4% of girls.

Bullying victims often are targeted because of their sexual preference (lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender; Katz-Wise & Hyde, 2012), because they have a disability of some sort (Blake, Lund, Zhou, Oi-man, & Benz, 2012; Son, Parish, & Peterson, 2012; Swearer et al., 2012), because they are experiencing early onset maturation (Reynolds & Juvonen, 2010), or because they are socially anxious (Pabian & Vandebosch, 2015). In addition, based on a review of literature, Juvonen and Grahajm (2014) also suggested that bullying victims tend to be underprivileged or members of ethnic minority groups. In other literature reviews, researchers have suggested that when compared to their peers and bullies, bullying victims are more likely to be depressed, lonely, and suicidal (Wang & Ianotti, 2012; Wang, Nansel, & Iannotti, 2011). With regard to gender and victimization, results in the literature are mixed. For example, Gualdo et al. (2015) found obvious differences among boys and girls. Of the 161 students ages 12-20 who participated in the study, 39 (36.1%) were boys compared to 69 (63.9%) who were girls (Gualdo et a., 2015). On the other hand, Verlinden, Tiemeier, et al. (2014) found that in general, boys and girls are bullied at similar rates (Verlinden, Tiemeier, et al., 2014). When specific bullying acts were considered, however, rates between the groups often varied (Verlinden, Veenstra, et al., 2014). While both genders were found to be victims of physical bullying at similar rates, when compared to boys, girls more often were found to be victims of verbal (36.7% vs. 40.8%), material (17.0% vs. 21.6%), and relational

bullying (33.5% vs. 43.5%). However, boys tend to be rejected by peers more often than girls (Verlinden, Veenstra, et al., 2014).

Characteristics of the Cyberbully and Cyberbullying Victim

Despite the high co-occurrence of fundamental characteristics associated with both traditional bullying and cyberbullying, these two forms are distinctive individual phenomena and involve different personality traits (Baroncelli & Ciucci, 2014). These traits have been discussed in the literature. O'Brien and Moules (2010) conducted a study in which the researchers focused on why bullies might cyberbully. Results of their study showed that factors that facilitate cyberbullying include the anonymity of the virtual world, the wider audience that the Internet enables, and the belief that the cyberbullies will not be held accountable for their wrongdoings (O'Brien & Moules, 2010). The anonymity of the virtual world may be especially influential with regard to cyberbullying behavior because cyberbullies tend to blindly assume that their victims are highly impacted by their actions and that as a result, their victims suffer from high levels of negative emotional responses to their behavior, in particular being frightened or offended (Gualdo et al., 2015). Although this condition may not be true (Gualdo et al. [2015] found that cyberbully victims actually reported being sad and rejected more than frightened or offended) or may be true to a lesser degree than what the cyberbully perceives, this typically misguided perception contributes to the cyberbully's impression that the behavior is affecting the victim, which further motives the cyberbully to continue with the behavior (Gualdo et al., 2015).

Cyberbullying participants are at a higher risk for depression, mental health problems, juvenile delinquency, suicidal ideation, and a variety of problems at school and

with family members (Sourander et al., 2010). They also are more likely to demonstrate aggressive behavior (Gradinger, Yanagida, Strohmeier, & Spiel, 2015; Fletcher et al., 2014;), show greater moral disengagement (Bussey, Fitzpatrick, & Raman, 2015; Wachs, 2012), struggle to regulate their emotions (Baroncelli & Ciucci, 2014), and have lower levels of self-esteem when compared to their peers who have not engaged in or been victims of cyberbullying (Patchin & Hinduja, 2010). Moreover, cyberbullies tend to be frequent uses of the Internet (Mishna, Khoury-Kassabri, Gadalla & Daciuk, 2012).

When compared to victims of in-person bullying, victims of cyberbullying have reported feeling a greater emotional impact as a result of the bullying event (Corby et al., 2014). Specifically, when compared to victims of in-person bullying, victims of cyberbullying may experience far greater shame and embarrassment in the larger online environment (Raskauskas & Stoltz, 2007). In addition, when compared to traditional bully victims, cybervictims are significantly more likely to suffer from social difficulties, higher levels of anxiety, depression (Campbell, Spears, Slee, Butler, & Kift, 2012), and low levels of self-esteem (Patchin & Hinduja, 2010).

Despite the negative experiences associated with cyberbullying, victimized children often do not immediately tell adults about their experiences and at times try to hide their experience (Stavrinides, Nikiforou & Gerogiou, 2015). Reasons for this may vary but include the belief that the adult may not be able or willing to help (Mark & Ratliffe, 2011), embarrassment, or fear of retaliation from the bully (Stavrinides et al., 2015). Some victims view cyberbullying as something about which you should not communicate with others, such as parents or friends (Crosslin & Golman, 2014).

Other researchers have identified factors that predict a person's involvement in cyberbullying. These factors include (a) the time that a person spends using information and communication technology (Hinduja & Patchin, 2008; Smith et al., 2008), (b) the extent of a person's advanced Internet skills (Vandebosch & Van Cleemput, 2008), (c) engagement in a conflict between the child and the family or with the greater caregiver (Ybarra et al., 2007), (d) low levels of parental support (Wang, Iannotti, & Nansel, 2009), (e) lack of communication between youths and their parents (Law et al., 2010), (f) paternal unemployment, in particular with regard to fathers who are unemployed, (g) being a child of a single parent, (h) being a cyberbullying victim (Arslan, Savaser, Hallett, & Balci, 2012), and (i) engaging in risky behavior (Roberto, Eden Savage, Ramos-Salazar, and Deiss (2014). Hinduja and Patchin (2013) also found a connection between bullying behavior and peer pressure. Specifically, 62% of adolescents who reported having cyberbullied a peer also reported that their friends had cuberbullied a peer (Hinduja & Patchin, 2013).

Study results regarding the effect of gender on cyberbullying behavior are mixed. While Connell et al. (2013) found that girls (16%) were more likely to engage in cyberbullying than were boys (10.5%), Gualdo et al. (2015) found that (80%) of boys engaged in cyberbullying behaviors compared to 20% of girls. In addition, other factors associated with cyberbullying have been found to be gender specific. Hinduja and Patchin (2013) found that the type of cyberbullying behavior in which adolescents engage is related to gender. Specifically, when compared to boys (6.3%), girls (7.4%) are more inclined to spread rumors, and when compared to girls (3.1%), boys (4.6%) are more likely to post obscene or hurtful pictures or videos online (Hinduja & Patchin, 2013).

When considering past engagement in traditional bullying behaviors, Erdur-Baker (2010) found that when compared to girls (17.3%), boys (23.7%) who were traditional bullies were more likely to be cyberbullies as well. Moreover, level of academic achievement is a factor of boys' participation in cyberbullying, where boys with lower grades are more likely to be cyberbully offenders than their higher achieving peers; this relationship does not hold true for girls (Connell et al., 2013).

When compared to nonvictims, victims of cyberbullying are more likely to have received treatment from a mental health professional (5% vs. 14%, respectively) and more likely to have considered suicide during the previous year (5% vs. 20%, respectively; MTV and Associated Press, 2011). Also, when compared to nonvictims, victims of digital abuse also have a higher rate of engagement in negative behaviors, including smoking, drinking, illegal drugs, and sexual activity (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). The greatest differences between nonvictims and victims are evident for smoking (8% vs. 21%, respectively) and sexual activity (17% and 35%, respectively). Victims of cyberbullying also are more likely to have considered transferring schools (17%) or dropping out of school (10%) when compared to nonvictims (11% and 5%, respectively; MTV and Associated Press, 2011).

Study results regarding the effect of gender on patterns of victimization have been mixed. While Hinduja and Patchin (2010) failed to find significant differences between genders with regard to victims of cyberbullying, other researchers have found differences. According to Gualdo et al. (2015), girls (64.7%) are more likely to be victims of cyberbullying than boys (35.3%) are. Hinduja and Patchin (2013) found similar results: 25.1% of girls reported being victims of cyberbullying compared to 16.6 of boys.

Results from the Pew Research Center (2014) indicated that women ages 18-24 were more likely to experience certain types of bullying behavior, especially severe types. For instance, when compared to men, the women were more likely to have been stalked (7% vs. 26%, respectively) and sexually harassed (13% vs. 25%, respectively; Pew Research Center, 2014). Moreover, women (38%) have been found to be more likely than men (17%) to be very or extremely upset by their cyberbullying experience (Pew Research Center, 2014). Finally, over their lifetimes, girls are more likely report incidents of cyberbullying than are boys (21.3% vs. 17.5%, respectively; Hinduja & Patchin, 2010).

Cyberbullying

Cyberbullying is frequently defined by using some form of online technological criteria for bullying (Pieschl, Kuhlmann, & Porsch, 2015). Cyberbullying represents a virtual iteration of the physically aggressive and intimidating bullying that children encounter in their schools and neighborhoods (Slonje & Smith, 2008; Swartz, 2009). Both the traditional bully and the cyberbully trouble, threaten, and harm their victims, but some actions of the cyberbully are characteristically different from the actions of the traditional bully (Hinduja & Patchin, 2010). Cyberbullies typically harass and intimidate their victims by sending them (a) misleading or threatening emails, instant messages (IMs), and/or text messages or (b) embarrassing and lewd photos (Hinduja & Patchin, 2010). Other common forms of cyberbullying include circulating false rumors (Walker, Sockman, & Koehn, 2011) and disclosing personal information that seeks to discredit and harm the victim (Hinduja & Patchin, 2010; Sourander et al., 2010). Cyberbullying also differs from traditional bullying with respect to the speed in which hurtful information

can be circulated (Rice et al., 2015), the eternalness of the hurtful material, and the accessibility of the victim (Brewer & Kerslake, 2015).

Cyberbullying may pose a greater societal risk than traditional bullying. Cyberbullying, to a certain degree, is dependent on the technological expertise of the cyberbully (Wade & Beran, 2011); but it can be especially damaging because it can occur through so many electronic mediums (Smith et al., 2008). Ongoing and rapid advances in technology and applications continuously provide cyberbullies with new methods for cyberbullying (Hinduja & Patchin, 2008). For example, researchers specifically have identified online gaming sites (Mancilla-Caceres, Pu, Amir, & Espelage, 2012), Facebook, a social networking service (Whittaker & Kowalski, 2015), and Twitter, a social messaging service (Calvin, Bellmore, Xu, & Zhu, 2015) as venues of growing import in the cyberbullying discussion. In addition to advances in technology and applications, young people continue to gain increased access to unsupervised online activities and media devices (Waasdorp & Bradshaw, 2015). Despite the benefits afforded by the Internet (Lenhart & Purcell et al., 2010) the Internet has served as a negative venue for cyberbullying (Kowalski, Giumetti, Schroeder & Lattanner, 2014) by supporting a variety of methods for electronically contacting, and bullying, others (Wingate, Minney, & Guadagno, 2013).

Although bully victimization traditionally has occurred on school grounds, a considerable amount of bully victimization now occurs away from the school (Turner, Finkelhor, Hamby, Shattuck, & Omrod, 2011). One reason for this may be that access to victims online is relatively unrestricted. While victims of traditional bullying typically are able remove themselves from the bullying situation, this condition is more difficult for

victims of cyberbullying (Slonje & Smith, 2008, p. 148). As a result, cyberbullying can happen 24 hours a day, 7 days a week (Crosslin & Golman, 2014) and can affect a person even when the person is alone (Wade & Beran, 2011). Also, cyberbullying messages and images post instantly and reach a wide audience in moments (Wade & Beran, 2011), which can be more impactful than traditional face-to-face bullying (Dooley, Pyazalski, & Cross, 2009). Moreover, deleting online messages or images is often difficult, and the negative impact that they have on victims can perhaps never be mitigated fully (Wade & Beran, 2011).

Sourander et al. (2010) noted that the cyberbully is particularly emboldened by the relatively anonymous nature of the virtual environment where the cyberbully can operate without regard to location or time—often the cyberbully and victim are not even acquainted with each other. Essentially, cyberbullying is an indirect mode of bullying where the cyberbully is not face-to-face with his or her victim (Slonje & Smith, 2008). As a result, the cyberbully typically does not witness the victim's reaction and thus is less able to perceive the immediate impact on the victim (Slonje & Smith, 2008). In addition, there is less likelihood that the cyberbully will empathize with the victim and greater likelihood that the cyberbully will feel accountable for his or her actions (Sourander et al., 2010). This condition hints at the possibility that the motives for cyberbullying may be different from those associated with traditional bullying (Wade & Beran, 2011).

Because the scope of the potential audience in cyberbullying is far greater than in traditional bullying, the intention of cyberbullies may be to cause extensive damage rather than to be momentarily hurtful (Slonje & Smith, 2008).

Wade and Beran (2011) noted that there are a few factors that predict a person's involvement in cyberbullying. A person's involvement in traditional bullying and other antisocial behaviors is one such factor (Ybarra et al., 2007). Another important factor is the time the cyberbully spends using information and communication technology (Hinduja & Patchin, 2010). According to Jäger, Amado, Matos, and Pessoa (2010), incidents of cyberbullying also may be related to inappropriate use of media devices as the result of poor media literacy. Similarly, Vandebosch & Van Cleemput, 2009) suggested that a cyberbully's level of Internet skills also may contribute to involvement in cyberbullying behaviors.

The Role of Digital Abuse in Cyberbullying

Cyberbullying in close intimate relationships can become abusive (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). The abusive nature of cyberbullying is now coined as digital abuse. Digital abuse is seen in intimate relationships when one partner constantly calls, text, and/or use social network sites to bully, harass, stalk, or intimidate the other partner (Weathers & Hopson, 2015).

In the 21st century, children become knowledge users of digital technology at an early age, and adolescents are particularly enthusiastic Internet users (Jones & Fox, 2009). It is estimated that 93% of adolescents between the ages of 12 and 17 and 89% of emerging adults between the ages of 18 and 24 have access to the Internet (Jones & Fox, 2009). While younger Internet users predominantly use the Internet for social networking purposes, older users generally do so for informational, banking, or shopping purposes (Jones & Fox, 2009). About 80% of American adolescents are believed to use cellphones, primarily for the purposes of texting, instant messaging, or accessing social media (Jones

& Fox, 2009). Data indicate that over 200 texts a day are sent out by 15% of adolescents ages 12 to 17 and by 18% of emerging adults between the ages of 18 and 24 (Lenhart, Ling, Campbell, & Purcell, 2010).

Early knowledge of digital technology and access to the Internet can lead to abusive behavior. Prompted by this possibility, MTV and the Associated Press conducted a public service study on digital abuse among teens in 2009 and a follow up study in 2011 (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Study participants were recruited randomly from Knowledge Panel®, through Random-Digit Dial sampling, and by mail through Address-Based Sampling (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). The survey was conducted online for 2 weeks and involved interviews of 631 teen's ages 14-17 and 724 adults ages 18-24 (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Topics of interest in the study were the incidence of digital abuse, sexting and digital dating abuse, and digital discrimination.

Incidence of Digital Abuse

The occurrence of digital abuse is especially common among teens and young adults who are in general using technology frequently during their day-to-day lives and are in a dating relationship (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). More than half (56%) of the 14-24 year old youths said they had experienced abuse through social and digital media compared with 50% reporting these experiences in 2009. Over three quarters (76%) of youth viewed digital abuse as a serious problem but believed that intervention had increased in recent times (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). When compared to the responses from 2009, in 2011, more people were likely to intervene in cyberbullying incidents involving someone being mean (MTV & Associated Press, 2011).

The most common forms of digital harassment included people writing things online that were not true (26%), people writing things online that were mean (24%), and someone forwarding an instant message that was supposed to be kept private (20%; (MTV & Associated Press). Moreover, young adults were slightly more likely to have experienced digital abuse rather than teens (59% compared to 51%, respectively); however, for teens, the experiences were more recent than for the adults (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Just over 3 in 10 respondents said they had encountered unwanted digital behaviors at some point in the last 6 months, compared with 24% among those ages 18-24 (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Young women (82%) and non-Whites (80%) were more apt to regard digital abuse as a problem than were men (70%) or Whites (73%; MTV & Associated Press, 2011).

Sexting and Digital Dating Abuse

With regard to *sexting*, the sending and receiving of sexually explicit text messages, the survey results indicated that although 71% of the youth respondents were aware that sexting can have far-reaching consequences, 1 in 3 people in the 18-24 age bracket indicated having engaged in some form of sexting (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Many people indicated that they participated in sexting because of peer pressure (MTV & Associated Press, 2011).

Youths were more apt to receive nude photos or sexually explicit messages than they were to send them (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Of the youth surveyed, 15% had sent naked photos or videos of themselves to others, while 21% had received naked photos or videos from others (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). About half of those who had sent nude photos said they had been pressured to do so (MTV & Associated Press,

2011). In addition, 33% had received online messages or texts containing sexual words (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Study findings also indicated the sending of sexts is far more common among young adults (19%) when compared to teens (7%; MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Among those who had sexted, only 10% had done so with people with whom they were acquainted only online, representing a decline of 65.5% since 2009 (MTV & Associated Press, 2011).

Of those in relationships, 41% said they had experienced some form of digital dating abuse, with over 25% reporting pressure from their partner to constantly check in with her or him (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Almost 3 in 10 (27%) said their partner kept checking up on them several times a day to find out how they were, with whom they were, and what they were doing, as well as reading their text messages without seeking their permission (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). About a quarter (24%) reported being continually pressured by their partners to respond to their emails, instant messages, phone calls, or texts (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). With regard to social networking sites, 15% said their current partners had asked that they remove their former girlfriends or boyfriends from their friends or follower lists, and 13% said their partners had asked them to share their online passwords with them (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Of the youth surveyed, 5% said their partner had spread rumors about them in the digital world or used information found online to embarrass or harass them (MTV & Associated Press, 2011).

Digital Discrimination

Slurs are frequent in cyberspace, and the survey confirmed that 71% of respondents felt emboldened in the virtual world to use language that they would not use

in person (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Half of the participants reported regularly observing discriminatory language on the social networking sites (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). The groups that invited the most discriminating remarks were overweight (54%); lesbian, gay, and bisexual (51%); African-American (45%); female (44%); and immigrants (35%; MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Common discriminatory language used included words and phrases such as *that's so gay* (65%); *slut* (55%); *fag* (53%); and *nigger* (42%; MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Over three fourth of the youth (76%) agreed that using discriminatory language was undesirable, but they had varying perceptions of its gravity (MTV & Associated Press, 2011).

Responding to Digital Abuse in Cyberbullying

Overall, teens were found to be displaying smarter and safer behavior online than young adults and more likely to respond to acts of cyberbullying than they had been in the past (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). In 2009, 47% of young adults reported they would respond to mean acts online; in 2011, that number increased to 56% (MTV & Associated Press, 2011. Also, more than half (51%) of the young adults reported they would respond to discrimination on social networking sites (MTV & Associated Press, 2011).

Tactics the teens found effective in lessening the incidence of digital abuse included limiting the cyberbully's access to their social network accounts, contact details, or passwords (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). In addition, 47% found that merely asking the perpetrator to stop proved effective, whereas 14% said it made matters worse and 27% felt it made no difference either way (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). Other respondents said they changed passwords (80%); changed their email address, profile

name, or mobile number (67%); deleted a social networking profile altogether (59%); asked a friend for help (53%); complained to the police (50%), and told parents (49%; MTV & Associated Press, 2011).

Effects of Bullying and Cyberbullying

Typically, consequences of bullying and cyberbullying are most apparent for the victim. However, bullying and cyberbullying can have consequences for the bully/cyberbully as well as for bystanders of bullying/cyberbullying events. These consequences are negative and can have long-term implications.

Effects on the Victim

Bullying behavior may affect victims in multiple ways. These effects may be short- or long term (Jernigan, 2007) and affect the victim in different ways depending on the rate, duration, and extent of the occurrence (Tokunaga, 2010). According to data from the Pew Research Center (Pew Research Center, 2014), 15% of cyberbullying victims said their reputations were affected by the experience. Most cases of digital abuse threaten the victims' mental health and thus lead to outcomes that are emotional in nature and (Weathers & Hopson, 2015). For example, the most typical effects of bullying on victims are low self-esteem, frequent migraine attacks (Limber, 2002); victims also may feel anxious (Tomşa, Jenaro, Campbell, & Neacşu, 2013), lonely (Schultze-Krumbholz, Jäkel, Schultze, & Scheithauer, 2012), depressed, suicidal (Wang & Iannotti, 2012), humiliated, insecure (Jernigan, 2007), sad, and rejected (Gualdo et al., 2015). Increased frequency of cyberbully victimization may directly contribute to the degree of depression a victim suffers (Wang, Iannotti, & Luk, 2012). In addition, because victims may feel insulted, hurt, and helpless, they may develop a fear of going to school (Barboza, 2015),

may have difficulty making friends, and demonstrate hostile behavior toward their peers (Healy, Sanders, & Iyer, 2015). Victims of bullying also are at a greater risk of suffering from mental health problems such as schizophrenia, and, in extreme cases, victims may commit suicide (Ericson, 2001). Jenkins and Demaray (2015) found that bullying victims who had low academic self-concepts (engagement, interpersonal skills, motivation, and study skills) were more likely to have low levels of academic achievement when comparted to their peers who were bullied but who had high levels of academic self-concept.

Victims may be particularly vulnerable to cyberbullying behaviors because the anonymity of the cyberbully source puts the victims in a position in which they may fear for their safety without being able to identify the source of the threat (Sourander et al., 2010). According to the Pew Research Center (2014), when young people reported having experienced cyberbullying, 14% found it extremely upsetting, 14% found it very upsetting, 21% found it somewhat upsetting, 30% found it was a little upsetting, and 22% found it not at all upsetting. Hinduja and Patchin (2010) found that cybervictims most often reported being upset by emails they received from someone they knew. Victims of cyberbullying also may demonstrate more signs of depression and anxiety and exhibit lower levels of self-esteem than nonvictims (Kowalski & Limber, 2013; Kowalski, Limber, Limber, & Agatston, 2012).

Data from the Pew Research Center (2014) indicated that the degree to which cyberbullying has an effect on victims is gender dependent; women (38%) were more likely than men (17%) to describe their most recent incidents as extremely or very upsetting and (15%) of online harassment victims said their reputations were affected

(Pew Research Center, 2014). The degree to which cyberbullying has an effect on victims also is likely dependent on the type of cyberbullying behavior that a victim experiences (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). For example, as reported by MTV and Associated Press (2011), 56% of victims expressed being very upset by rumors spread on email, instant message, or mobile text messaging; 53% of victims expressed being very upset by mean remarks about them being posted on the Internet; 45% of victims expressed being very upset by false information being posted on the Internet; and 49% of victims expressed being very upset by the threat of their private information being shared publicly if they did not do something the cyberbully wanted them to do. In some cases, victims may be driven to suicide as the result of cyberbullying (Hinduja & Patchin, 2010). An instance of victim suicide influenced directly or indirectly by cyberbullying is referred to as *cyberbullicide* (Hinduja & Patchin, 2010). According to Helweg-Larsen, Schütt, and Larsen (2012), the risk of becoming a cyberbully victim can be reduced considerably through parental supervision of adolescents' Internet use.

Effects on the Bully and Bystanders

Little research is available on the effects of bullying and cyberbullying on the bully. However, Olweus (1993) found that boys who bully others in middle school have a 4 times greater chance of being convicted of a criminal offence by the age of 24 than their other nonbullying peers. This statistic demonstrates that bullying behavior has long-range implications for the bully.

While some researchers have questioned the role bystanders play in bullying and cyberbullying events, others have considered how bystanders may be affected. For example, researchers have shown that bystanders can experience anxiety and guilt for not

taking action when they witness bullying (National Center for School Engagement [NCSE], 2012). Guilt can occur when people witness but do not respond to (a) a conflict between the child (victim) and the family or with the greater caregiver (aggressor; Ybarra, Mitchell, Finkelhor, & Wolak, 2007); (b) lack of parental support of adolescents (Wang et al., 2009); or (c) lack of communication between parent and child (Law, Shapka, & Olson, 2010). When observing instances of bullying, bystanders may fail to inject themselves into situations because they (a) do not feel they are in a position of control, (b) fear for their own safety, or (c) fear that they may suffer long-term consequences as the result of involvement (U.S. Department of Education, 1998).

A Recognized Need to Take Action Against Bullying and Cyberbulling

According to Olweus (2001), bullying is a cycle that could be disrupted by the indifferent majority if they cared to oppose it. This perspective underscores the need to take action against bullying and cyberbullying (Mishna, Khoury-Kassabri, Gadalla, & Daciuk, 2013). Yang and Salmivallie (2015) expressed the need to include the bully-victim in antibullying efforts, and Pugh and Chitiyo (2012) stressed the need to recognize bullying as a global problem.

The need to take action against bullying and cyberbullying is demonstrated in the literature. For example, in a global study, Ipsos (2012) found that 77% of citizens identified the need for paying special attention to cyberbullying, stressing the fact that methods for combatting traditional bullying were ineffective against cyberbullying. In other studies, over half (53%) of victims of cyberbullying who expressed being deeply upset by the experience also expressed that cyberbullying should not be dismissed as being of little consequence (MTV and Associated Press, 2011), and both cyberbullies and

cyberbully victims (20%) expressed the need for both preventive and therapeutic measures to an equal extent (Hinduja & Patchin, 2010).

Other researchers have suggested that bystanders may represent an avenue for taking action against cyberbullying. Although online contact has been found to increase the likelihood of negative bystander behavior, which occurs more often in cyberspace than offline (Barlińska, Szuster, & Winiewski, 2013), the full role of bystanders in cyberbullying is complex and difficult to define (Slonje & Smith, 2008). However, Howard, Landau, and Pryor (2014) suggested that bullying behaviors are passively reinforced by nonvictimized peers who spend the majority of time (54%) watching bullying events occur, as opposed to intervening in them. In this way, passive bystanders may be partially responsible for the repeated negative acts that victims suffer (Howard, Landau, & Pryor, 2014; Salmivalli, Voeten, & Poskiparta, 2011).

In a study of bystanders of cyberbullying (aggressive remarks in an online chatroom), Dillion and Bushman (2015) found that although 67% (n = 150) of bystanders recognized the cyberbullying event, only 15% (n = 23) of bystanders took action to intervene in the situation. With regard to various distractions, little effect on the bystanders' (N = 150) ability to recognize a cyberbullying event was found among the participant groups; 75% (n = 30) of participants who had no distractions reported noticing the cyberbullying event compared to 64% (n = 32) of participants who experienced popup advertisements, 53% (n = 18) of participants listening to music, and 77% (n = 30) of participants under a presumed timed constraint (Dillon & Bushman, 2015). Dillon and Bushman (2015) suggested that cyberbystanders may not intervene when they observe cyberbullying events because they lack the knowledge necessary to directly help the

victim, a condition Nickerson, Aloe, Livingston, and Feeley (2014) suggested could be addressed through school-based bystander education.

Slovak and Singer (2011) suggested that school social workers are in a position to take action to prevent cyberbullying in schools. However, of the 399 social workers who participated in Slovak and Singer's study, 5.1% strongly disagreed and 38.3% disagreed with the statement "I believe that cyberbullying is something I feel equipped to deal with." This lack of efficacy with regard to combatting cyberbullying behaviors may be related to the ambivalence about intervening in cyberbullying events demonstrated by the majority of social workers (Slovak & Singer, 2011). Based on the study data, Slovak and Singer identified the need to develop guidelines for responding to cyberbullying and to train workers how to respond appropriately to cyberbullying events. In addition to the evidence in the literature, support for preventative action is evident at the executive level of the government.

White House Conference on Bullying

That the supreme executive branch of the United States government viewed bullying as a serious problem was indicated by the convening of the White House Conference on Bullying Prevention in March of 2011. President Obama's and First Lady Michelle Obama's remarks indicated the gravity of the problem of bullying. President Obama in particular stressed the need to change public opinion that bullying was a harmless and typical part of growing up and that all stakeholders needed to participate in the effort to combat bullying and ensure student safety in school (White House, 2011). First Lady Michelle Obama stressed the importance of parental involvement and the need to respond to acts of bullying (White House, 2011).

Although the conference was organized around the traditional concept of bullying and President Obama did not use the term *cyberbullying*, he did make comments with respect to cyberbullying behaviors. Specifically, he noted that bullying takes place not only in school but by means of technology when our children leave school (White House, 2011). The President underscored the need to be proactive by citing numerous negative outcomes associated with bullying behavior (White House, 2011).

Evolving Laws to Address Cyberbullying

Until 2009, there were no laws that specifically addressed the issue of cyberbullying (Dempsey, Sulkowski, Nichols, & Storch, 2009), and the responsibility for penalizing cyberbullying offenders generally had been left to the discretion of school officials (Gillespie, 2006). Since that time, however, legislators have begun to respond to the rising number of high-publicity cyberbullying incidents, a few of which have included tragic consequences for the victims (Dempsey et al., 2009). Occasionally, individuals suspected of cyberbullying have been prosecuted using existing laws, with criminal harassment statutes often providing a basis for initiating legal proceedings against cyberbullies (Findlaw, 2012).

As of 2015, 49 of the 50 states have implemented some sort of bullying law; only Montana does not have specific legislation in this regard (Hinduja & Patchin, 2015). Depending on the state and applicable laws, sanctions for bullying can range from civil penalties, such as suspensions or expulsions implemented by school administrators, to jail terms implemented for criminal misdemeanors (Findlaw, 2012). Although any penal action imposed in response to bullying behavior is prudent, Albertson (2015) strongly

advocated criminal sanctions for such behavior on the grounds that the stronger the penalty the greater the effect.

Of the 49 states that have bullying laws, all require schools to have policies about cyberbullying even though only 22 states actually include cyberbullying in their bullying laws (an additional three states had laws proposed at the time of this study; Hinduja & Patchin, 2015). Of those 22 states, seven include criminal sanctions for committing acts of cyberbullying (Hinduja & Patchin, 2015). Of the 49 states that require schools to have a cyberbullying policy, 14 states include off campus behaviors in the requirement for school policies (an additional two states had laws proposed at the time of this study; Hinduja & Patchin, 2015).

No bullying law exists at the federal level; however, a cyberbullying law was proposed in 2009 (Hinduja & Patchin, 2009). Although the proposed law includes criminal sanctions for committing acts of cyberbullying, it does require a school policy for handling acts of cyberbullying (Hinduja & Patchin, 2015). As demonstrated by the various penalties enforced for bullying and the inconsistent attention to cyberbullying in current laws, laws meant to inhibit bullying and cyberbullying behaviors constitute a grey area and represent an evolving field of study (FindLaw, 2012).

In some states, schools also are required to account for incidents of cyberbullying. For example, based on shortcomings identified in House Bill 483, An Act Relative to the Prevention of Bullying, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts passed Senate Bill 2283, An Act Relative to Bullying in Schools (2010), which more directly addressed issues related to cyberbullying. Specifically, the law included a mandate that districts make annual reports of cyberbullying incidents available to the department of primary and

secondary education as well as the state legislature (An Act Relative to Bullying in Schools, 2010).

Bullying and Cyberbullying Prevention

According to the NCPC and BJA (2006), changing patterns of negative behaviors associated with bullying is imperative for achieving peace in the nation. Citizens ought not to adopt a tolerant or passive stance towards wrongdoings that they witness occurring around them, nor should students be encouraged to be fearful, damaged victims or passive bystanders as wrongs go unchallenged (NCPC & BJA, 2006). It is from this perspective that antibullying efforts have grown.

Typically, bullying and cyberbullying prevention efforts have been predicated on the need to educate offenders and victims, who, experts have suggested, lack the appropriate understanding of the phenomenon, in particular the motivation for the behavior. For example, bullies may think their actions are funny and use bullying behaviors to receive attention from peers (Guerra, Williams, & Sadek, 2011). Victims also may see bullying behavior as behavior that starts as a joke but gets out of hand (Guerra et al., 2011).

Cyberbullying is a relatively new problem, and intervention programs that deal specifically with cyberbullying are scarce (Slonje, Smith & Frisén, 2013). However, because cyberbullying is innately ambiguous and insidious in nature, both offenders and victims merit education and counseling (Betz, 2011). Therefore, it is import to educate, students, families, and the community about bullying and cyberbullying. At the class level, it is beneficial for the school to implement rules against bullying, hold regular class meetings with students, and get parents involved (Olweus, 2005). Betz (2011)

underscored the importance of providing parents with instructional material so that they too could help educate their children about cyberbullying and how best to handle incidents of cyberbullying they may experience.

At the individual level, attention needs to be focused on bullies and victims (Olweus, 2005). Jacobs, Völlink, Dehue, and Lechner (2014) recommended that cyberbully victims be taught to improve their psychological wellbeing in general. In particular, Betz (2011) stressed the importance of educating victims about strategies for responding to acts of cyberbullying, including blocking senders, deleting text messages, and reporting incidents of bullying. Like Betz, Siegle (2010) stressed the importance of parental involvement for educating children about bullying and cyberbullying; however, Siegle also pointed to teaches as sources of critical information. To educate students about bullying and cyberbullying, schools have implemented various programs (Wade & Beran, 2011).

Olweus Bullying Intervention Program

Some of the first comprehensive and systematic research on bullying behavior has been attributed to Dan Olweus who began researching the topic in the late 70s (Olweus Bully Prevention Program [OBPP], 2015). During the next 40 years, Olweus often focused on attempting to determine the prevalence of bullying, ascertain the veracity of myths about bullying and victimization, and identify the primary traits of bullies and victims (OBPP, 2015).

Following a request from the Norwegian Ministry of Education, Olweus (1991) developed and implemented an intervention to reduce bullying in 42 Norwegian schools, the Olweus Bullying Intervention Program. The major goal of the Olweus Bullying

Intervention Program was to decrease, and ultimately eradicate, bullying in schools (Olweus, 1993). Another goal of the program was to promote better peer relations at school and create conditions that enable the bullies and victims to function and get along better (Olweus & Limber, 2010).

To test the effectiveness of the program, Olweus (1994) conducted a 2-year longitudinal study of 2,500 students in Grades 4 through 7. Results of the study indicated that the intervention significantly lowered the incidence of bullying in schools by about 50% (Olweus, 1994). Olweus also noted that the impact of the program was more marked with the passage of time; that is, more obvious results were observed after 2 years as opposed to during the first year. Moreover, bullying behaviors were not displaced from the school grounds to other locations such as routes to and from the school, there was an improvement in the general climate of the classes, and students reported a greater degree of satisfaction with their school life (Olweus, 1994).

Bully Busters Program

The Bully Busters program was established in 1994 at the University of Georgia as a bully intervention program for middle school students (Horne et al., 2003). After school administrators requested an earlier intervention program for students, the program was modified, and in 2003, became a bully intervention program for elementary aged students (Horne et al., 2003). The Bully Busters program was developed to provide teachers and other school administrators with a systematic intervention to effectively target problems arising from aggression and bullying in schools (Newman-Carlson, Horne, & Bartolomucci, 2000). The main goals of the program were to enhance awareness about the prevalence of bullying in schools and to develop the skills required

for effectively managing incidents of bullying (Newman-Carlson et al., 2000). Another goal of the program was the prevention of bullying through proactive behavior on the part of both the educators and students (Newman-Carlson et al., 2000).

In particular, the program was structured so that children could be equipped as early as possible with the emotional tools they need to have positive interactions with each other (Horne et al., 2003). In addition, the program lessons were designed to help children learn to help themselves from becoming bullies and/or victims of bullying throughout their school years and into adulthood (Horne et al., 2003). The developers of the program intended to teach children socially acceptable values and improve self-awareness for both potential bullies and victims, conditions that would invariably lead to the building of human dignity so that the offender/victim dynamic is never allowed to develop and productive citizenship could be fostered (Horne et al., 2003). To achieve these objectives, the program included techniques and strategies that specifically addressed the emotional intelligence of the bully as well as the victim and helped develop and/or strengthen levels of self-confidence (Horne et al., 2003).

Research that has been conducted on the Bully Busters program has demonstrated its value in multiple capacities. For example, in a study of 15 third through fifth grade teachers and 220 of their students, Brooks (2004) found that the Bully Busters program was effective for (a) the general development of teachers, (b) the promotion of teacher skills in intervening in and preventing bullying incidents, and (c) the increase in teacher self-efficacy with regard to working with both bullies and victims of bullying. In addition, students self-reported a decrease in engagement in bullying behaviors (Brooks, 2004). However, the teachers reported an actual increase in perceived aggressive student

behaviors, and students self-reported that their engagement in fighting behaviors and experiences as victims of bullying had remained largely unchanged (Brooks, 2004). Brooks did acknowledge that teachers' failure to follow the recommended implementation plan for the program was a limitation in the study and may have contributed to the decreased effectiveness of the program in some capacities.

Newman-Carlson and Horne (2004) also implemented the Bully Busters program to evaluate its efficacy in lowering aggressive and bullying behaviors among students. The population for this study was middle school students (Newman-Carlson & Horne, 2004). The results showed that the Bully Busters program raised teachers' awareness and understanding of bullying and promoted their self-efficacy in dealing effectively with incidents of bullying (Newman-Carlson & Horne, 2004). In addition, as a result of the implementation of the Bully Busters program, the incidence of classroom bullying, as measured by the number of classroom disciplinary referrals, decreased (Newman-Carlson & Horne, 2004). Similarly, Bell (2008) conducted research to explore the impact that an abbreviated version of the Bully Busters program had on teacher-efficacy, school climate, and bullying behaviors among students at the middle school level. Bell concluded that the program promoted teachers' self-efficacy in managing bullying behaviors but that it also increased the rates that students reported aggressive behavior they observed in the classroom (Bell, 2008). Bell suggested that improved rates of student reporting was not indicative of increased rates of aggressive behavior but rather students' ability to identify aggressive behavior and willingness to take action against it. In a later study, Bell, Raczynski, and Horne (2010) found similar results with regard to teacher efficacy: the Bully Busters program was associated with improved teacher efficacy with regard to

influencing student behavior and expectations for managing offender and victim behavior.

I Can Problem Solve for Schools

Based on the OBPP, the I Can Problem Solve for Schools (ICPS) program was designed for pre-kindergarten through sixth-grade students and was designed to help teachers successfully develop effective peer-mediation techniques to prevent bullying behaviors (Shure, 2012). The university-based peer-mediation techniques are used to teach children how to create suitable solutions to social issues, acknowledging the ideas, feelings, and motivators for actions as well as taking into consideration the ramifications of choices (Shure, 2012). The underlying premise of the program was that it is essential to teach children how to think rather than what to think, and that by doing so, children will begin to consider consequences of their actions, become more sensitive to the concerns of others, benefit from enhanced social adjustment and increased self-control, engage in prosocial behavior, avoid impulsivity, and be better able to solve problems they encounter (Shure, 2012).

The ICPS program lessons were designed so that teachers use pictures, roleplaying, puppets, and group interactions to demonstrate scenarios where students are capable of engaging in problem solving (Shure, 2012). During the lessons, students learn to identify ideas as good or bad and to consider newer and better methods of solving the problems in their lives (Shure, 2012). The if-then model also was employed to help children recognize consequences of their actions (Shure, 2012).

Bully Proofing Your School

Similar to the OBPP, the Bully Proofing Your School program was a school-wide bully reduction and prevention program for students in kindergarten through the eighth grade (Garrity, Jens, Porter, Sager, & Short-Camilly, 2004b). The program was designed to exploit the expertise of adults who have the most influence in the lives of children, including school administrators, teachers, and staff, and to encourage those adults to build relationships with parents (Garrity, Jens, Porter, Sager, & Short-Camilly, 2004a). The Bully Proofing Your School program comprised three interrelated manuals. The first manual included lessons to teach students about what bullying is and its effects on victims (Garrity et al., 2004b). In this manual, the school staff was encouraged to develop appropriate school and classroom rules to stress that bullying will not be accepted (Garrity et al., 2004b). The second manual included lessons to teach students how they can minimize their chances of becoming victims of bullying as well as the ways that they can handle incidents of bullying (Garrity et al., 200b). The third manual included lessons to teach students the importance of being active bystanders in bullying situations by reporting the incidents to adults (Garrity et al., 2004b).

Promoting Alternative Thinking Strategies

The Promoting Alternative Thinking Strategies program was designed for students in kindergarten through the sixth grade (or ages 5 – 12; Greenberg, Kusché, & Mihalic, 1998). The goals of the school-based program were to (a) promote healthy and harmonious modes of interactions, (b) curb aggressive tendencies and bullying behaviors, and (c) improve children's ability to discuss and understand their emotions (Greenberg et

al., 1998). According to Domitrovich, Cortes, and Greenberg (2007), the program was broader in scope than that I Can Problem Solve program.

Those who have evaluated the effectiveness of the Promoting Alternative

Thinking Strategies program among children in special needs and regular education

classrooms have found that it helped children be more open with their feelings, better

control their emotions, improve their problem solving skills with regard to social

situations, and decrease incidents of depression and acting out (Childtrends.org, 2012). In

some cases, changes were noted up to 2 years after a child had participated in the

program (Childtrends.org, 2012). However, the program was not deemed effective for

improving students' levels of social competence and results were mixed with regard to

the effect of the program on students' emotional understanding (Childtrends.org, 2012).

Best Practices in Bullying Prevention

Based on key intervention practices and feedback received from educators, the HRSA (2010a) identified six concise steps to combat bullying. Those steps are to initiate intervention efforts, determine the level of bullying occurring in the school, promote participation by both students and parents, develop guidelines of expectations and outcomes, promote safety within the school, and educate both students and school personnel (HRSA, 2010a). The underlying philosophy used to develop these six steps is prevention rather than reaction (stopbullying.gov, n.d.).

According to Beebe (2014), however, in order to develop effective prevention programs and intervention strategies for decreasing bullying behaviors, it is critical that the developers of these prevention programs and intervention strategies understand the dynamics of bullying behavior (Beebe, 2014). In particular, Beebe pointed out that

bullying behavior is, in part, dependent on the bullies' relationships within their families, among their peers at school, and among members of their communities and society in general. Having an understanding of these relationships, Beebe argued, would allow for the development of programs and strategies focused on particular areas of concern, which would increase the chances that the programs and strategies would be successful for reducing rates of bullying behaviors.

A Thin Line

In an attempt to educate those who use electronic means of communication about the growing virtual threats of cyberbullying, MTV, a popular cable television channel that caters mainly to adolescents and young adults, launched a campaign called A Thin Line (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). The purpose of the campaign was to empower *netizens*, the term used to denote citizens of the Internet, to identify, respond to, and prevent digital abuse in their lives (MTV & Associated Press, 2011). As described in an executive summary of the campaign, goals of the campaign were to present the finer nuances of digital interactions and to highlight that there is only a thin line between being careless and risk of injury to oneself and between being passive and getting cyberbullied (MTV & Associated Press, 2011).

Summary

Results of research studies have demonstrated that bullies and cyberbullies can be characterized by certain traits such as negative attitudes, deviant and/or aggressive behavior, and low self-esteem. Similarly, bullying and cyberbullying victims tend to have specific personality traits, including the propensity to have mental health issues and to

engage in high-risk behaviors. Victims of bullying and cyberbullying also tend to be female.

The negative outcomes of bullying and cyberbullying can manifest physically, emotionally, behaviorally, socially, and academically. The negative outcomes of bullying and cyberbullying, however, are not limited to effects on the victims but can be evident for offenders and bystanders as well. Based on the overall potential for negative outcomes, the need to be proactive with regard to bullying and cyberbullying prevention has been recognized by cyberbullying offenders and victims as well as researchers and law makers. In response to this need, multiple antibullying programs have been developed, and ample research exists on the effectiveness of these established programs. However, little research exists with regard to how these programs may be used to effectively combat cyberbullying. It is in this capacity that this study has value. By conducting this study, I have generated new data about the potential for using an existing bully prevention program to combat cyberbullying. Chapter 3 contains an explanation of the methodology associated with the generation of this data.

Chapter 3: Research Method

As the ubiquitousness of the Internet has grown and children's technological knowledge at young ages has increased, cyberbullying has grown more widespread and acts of bullying have become more intense. This condition exists despite documentation showing the negative effects of cyberbullying on its victims and the implementation of programs to combat bullying in general. For this reason, the purpose of this study was to gain insight into the principals' perceptions of the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying in elementary schools and to identify strategies for implementing an antibullying program as a means of combating cyberbullying.

This section begins with a discussion of the study's research design and rationale and includes a section about the study population and sample. Also, the data collection and data analysis processes are discussed. Finally, issues of trustworthiness, ethical procedures, and limitations associated with the study are discussed.

Research Design and Rationale

Two research questions were developed for this study. The central research question was: How do the principals' perceptions, knowledge, experience, and implementation of the Bully Busters program help make the program an effective process to prevent/combat cyberbullying in schools? The secondary question was: What are the key factors of implementing an antibullying program to combat cyberbullying? These questions reflect a need to better understand the effectiveness of the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying in elementary schools and to identify strategies for implementing an antibullying program as a means of combating cyberbullying.

To generate data for this study, I conducted a qualitative study. "Where quantitative researchers seek causal determination, prediction, and generalization of findings, qualitative researchers seek instead illumination, understanding, and extrapolation to similar situations." (Strauss & Corbin, 1990, p. 17). In addition, "a qualitative mode of inquiry will help to facilitate the understanding of a social or human problem more effectively than a quantitative mode – a method that relies more on testing theories related to human problems" (Creswell, 2013, p. 44). Because the purpose of my study was to gain insight about conditions pertaining to the use of the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying rather than to test theories or make generalizations about the program based on quantitative analyses, a qualitative design was most appropriate for my study.

Also, the quantitative method is relevant for research where the issues are clear and quantifiable and measurement of specific variables is involved. In comparison, Creswell (2013) stated that qualitative scientific studies are best suited for investigating a human or social problem when the researcher does not know the associated variables but wants to develop a detailed understanding of a central phenomenon. The present study did not involve any clear variable that might be measured but rather a complex social issue about which insights was sought. In addition, cyberbullying is a human problem with various facets and the effectiveness of using the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying in one northeastern Indiana school district was unknown. Thus, the use of the qualitative method allowed for an in-depth exploration that could be used to generate a holistic depiction of the social issue and how the Bully Busters program could be used as a deterrent in the school district. The conclusions that emerged from this qualitative

study offer rich insights and may be applicable to other groups with characteristics similar to those of the group studied in this research. Ultimately, studies in which the researcher essentially seeks answers, clarity, and insight are better undertaken through qualitative methods. It was for these reasons that the qualitative method of inquiry was determined most appropriate for this study.

Creswell, (2013) identified five qualitative approaches. These approaches are "narrative, phenomenology, grounded theory, ethnography, and case studies" (Creswell, 2013, p. 2). Of the five, the case study approach was most applicable for this study. The purpose of case study research is to provide a detailed understanding of a particular case (Creswell, 2013). To do this, researchers use multiple sources of data, which can be used to understand how real-life program interventions may result in particular effects (Baxter & Jack, 2008). Also, Yin (2014) explained that the case study method is suitable for generating knowledge about a social phenomenon: "the essence of a case study, the central tendency among all types of case study, is that it tries to illuminate a decision or set of decisions: why they were taken, how they were implemented, and with what results" (p. 13).

Based on these descriptions of the case study, the case study was an appropriate approach to data collection in this study. Specifically, the purpose of this study was to generate detailed information about principals' perceptions with regard to the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying, a social phenomenon, in one particular school district. In addition, a secondary purpose of the study was to identify strategies for implementing an antibullying program as a means of combating cyberbullying, in other words, to explore decisions with regard to the implementation of a program and the

outcome of that implementation. These purposes for conducting this study align with the descriptions associated with uses of the case the study.

To collect data in this study, I used interviews and observations. The interview is a good method for collecting data in qualitative studies because the personal nature of face-to-face meetings can evoke more varied, expressive, and insightful answers from interviewees than might be possible through a questionnaire (Gratton & Jones, 2010; Yin, 2014). One reason for this is that open-ended interview questions typically are less restrictive than written questions with predetermined options for participants to choose (Creswell, 2013).

In addition, according to Rubin and Babbie (2010), interviews can be time consuming to conduct but have four advantages over other data collection methods. Specifically, interviews allow the researcher (a) to clarify questions the participant may not understand, (b) to control participant responses so that participants are unable to skip questions, (c) to observe participants' body language, and (d) probe for additional information when participant responses are vague or incomplete (Rubin & Babbie, 2010).

Although (a) being able to clarify questions for participants can help ensure that accurate and appropriate data are collected, (b) observing body language may provide researchers' insight about participants' affective conditions, and (c) being able to probe for additional information can help ensure that the needed quantity of quality data are collected, conducting interviews may not necessarily be more advantageous than other forms of data collection with regard to participants' ability to skip questions. For example, when a researcher uses the online survey tool SurveyMonkey, he or she may format the survey so that participants may not skip over questions.

Also, in the informed consent, a researcher may not specify that interview participants must answer all the interview questions, in which case participants may feel justified in excusing themselves from answering particular questions. Ultimately then, interviews may not be more advantageous for collecting data than other methods with regard to control over participant responses. Nonetheless, interviews do provide a valuable means of collecting quality data in qualitative studies and, therefore, using interviews to collect data in my qualitative study was appropriate.

The observation also is a good method for collecting data in qualitative studies Yin (2014) suggested that data collected through observations can add depth of understanding to the topic being studied. Because I wanted to collect in-depth data that would help me thoroughly understand the principals' perceptions of the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying in elementary schools, using observations to collect data was a logical part of my data collection plan.

Role of the Researcher

In this study, my role was that of primary researcher. This means that I was responsible for all aspects of participant recruitment as well as the generation and analysis of all data. My role as the researcher in this study in no way compromised the voluntary nature of this study. Although I work in the field of education like the study participants, I work in higher education and the participants worked at the elementary school level. Also, I was not affiliated with the school district in which the participants worked and the participants were not subordinate to me in any way. As a results of these conditions, it is highly unlikely that the principals felt pressured to participate in my study.

To reduce bias in a study, Creswell (2013) suggested that researchers make themselves aware of potential biases that they may hold toward their participants or the phenomenon under study. In addition, because a person's life experiences and personal characteristics inherently will impact one's perspective, Creswell suggested that researchers include in their discussions how these experiences may influence or contribute to their interpretation of the data and how their interpretation of the findings may be shaped by their gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. By doing so, researchers may acknowledge the potential for bias and act consciously to limit its influence on their interpretations of the data.

In this study, I took steps to reduce the potential for researcher bias. First, I actively acknowledged that the potential for bias existed so that I would be more likely to recognize its presence in my study and take action to reduce its potential impact on my analyses. Next, I considered my personal experiences and characteristics to identify any obvious sources of researcher bias. Although I am an educator, I teach at the college level and do not have experience at the elementary school level. Also, although I am a parent, my children have not been victims of bullying not do I have any preconceived notions about the capacity for the Bully Busters program to be used to combat cyberbullying. Based on these preliminary considerations, I anticipate that I will be able to objectively collect and analyze the data for my study.

Population and Sample

The population for this study was principals in a northeastern Indiana school district. This population was chosen because principals are the primary decision makers with regard to the implementation of programs in their respective elementary schools. In

addition, principals are responsible for the allocation and reporting of all disciplinary actions in their respective schools, of which disciplinary actions associated with bullying and cyberbullying would be included. Also, principals have personal knowledge of the implementation process with regard to the Bully Busters program.

When conducting a study, a researcher must bear in mind the importance of sampling (Creswell, 2013). As Creswell (2013) observed, unlike in quantitative research were researchers methodically identify participants through random sampling, in qualitative research, researchers identify participants using purposeful sampling. With purposeful sampling, researchers choose participants that may best provide insight about the phenomenon under study (Creswell, 2013). Because the population in this study was specific, namely principals in a northeastern Indiana school district who implemented the Bully Busters program in their schools, purposeful sampling was most appropriate to recruit participants for this study.

Participants who were invited to participate in this study had to be:

- principals in the northeastern Indiana school district of focus in this study,
- have implemented the Bully Busters Program in their elementary schools,
- willing to provide data demonstrating incidents of bullying and cyberbulling at their schools, and
- willing to be observed while presenting a Bully Busters worksheet lesson to students in their schools.

That the principal participants met the inclusion criteria initially was determined based on participant acknowledgement of the criteria and acceptance of study participation. That the principal participants met the inclusion criteria was confirmed during the interview

process. Any participant who did not meet the inclusion criteria would not have been able to provide answers to the interview questions about the Bully Busters program.

The sample for this study was made up of three principals. I choose this number because this was the number of principals in the focus school district who implemented the Bully Busters program in their schools. Participant names and contact information were provided by the school district communication specialist.

Instrumentation

Two instruments were used to collect data in this study. One was an interview protocol (Appendix A) and the other was an observation checklist (Appendix B). In both cases, I developed the instruments for this study.

Interviews

The interview protocol consisted of two sets of interview questions and a request for the prior and current school year data with regard to incident reports involving bullying and cyberbullying (a request to which the principals previously agreed when they accepted the terms of the consent to participate in this study). The first set of questions (N = 5) was demographic in nature and was focused on participants' experience and knowledge. The second set of questions (N = 10) was made up of two background questions and eight questions about the Bully Busters program dived into four subject categories: its implementation in the school (n = 3), advantages of the program (n = 2), shortcoming of the program (n = 2), and perceptions of the program's effectiveness against cyberbullying (n = 1). I also provided participants with the opportunity to add anything else they felt pertinent to the discussion.

To ensure that I developed useful interview questions that would generate data I could use to answer the research questions for this study, for each question I developed, I asked myself the self-check questions outlined by Key (1997):

- Is the question necessary?
- What answers will it provide? How will the answers be tabulated, analyzed, and interpreted?
 - Are several questions needed instead of one?
- Do the respondents possess the requisite information or experience necessary to answer the questions?
 - Is the question clear?
 - Is the question loaded in one direction, biased, or emotionally toned?
 - Will the respondents be able to answer the question honestly?
 - Will the respondents be willing to answer the question?
 - Is the question misleading because of certain unstated assumptions?
 - Is the best type of answer solicited?
- Is the wording of the question likely to be objectionable to any of the respondents?
 - Is a direct or indirect question more suited?
 - Is the answer to a question likely to be influenced by preceding questions?
- Are the questions in proper sequential—and psychological-order? (Evaluation of a Questionnaire or Interview Script section)

Based on my answers to each of the self-check questions, I reworded the question as necessary to make it appropriate or I deleted it and replaced it with another more appropriate question.

Classroom Observation Checklist Form

The Classroom Observation Checklist Form I used to collect data during observation of the principals was developed by Linse (2006), who based it on a model developed by Chism (1999). The original instrument was made up of 23 behaviors divided into three main behavior categories: variety and pacing of instruction (n = 13), organization (n = 11), and presentation skills (n = 11). One question was inadvertently left out of the items on organization, and I divided one question from the presentation of skills section into two questions to distinguish between two distinct ideas that were originally grouped together. Because one item was left out and one item was divided into two items, the final observation checklist I used still contained 23 behavior items (see Appendix B). If I observed a particular behavior, I indicated this with a check mark next to the behavior on the checklist. I did not indicate multiple instances of any behavior. In addition, I afforded myself room to record examples of particular behaviors that supported the behaviors I indicated that I observed.

Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection Procedures

To recruit participants for my study, I first contacted the focus school district's communication department to acquire the names and contact information of principals in the school district who had implemented the Bully Busters program in their schools.

Then, I sent the principals, via e-mail, an invitation to participate in my study along with a copy of the informed consent so that the principals would understand the expectations

of participation. Those who agreed to participate in the study according to the terms expressed on the consent form emailed or phoned me to express their willingness to do so. Once I had recruited my participants, data were collected in four phases. Prior to collecting any data, however, I confirmed the principals had read and agreed to the terms of participation in this study as outlined in the consent form (see Appendix C). The first step of the data collection process involved interviews via telephone to collect demographic data from the participants. All demographic data were collected at one time (one call per participant)—each phone call lasted approximately 5 minutes. All data collected during the phone call portion of the interview process were recorded by hand on the interview protocol (see Appendix A).

The second step of the data collection process involved face-to-face interviews to collect data about principals' backgrounds, their implementation of the Bully Busters program, the advantages and shortcomings of the Bully Busters program, and the use of the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying. Interviews were conducted in each participant's office, and each interview lasted approximately 80 minutes. All data collected during the face-to-face interview portion of the interview process were collected at one time (one face-to-face interview per participant) and were recorded by hand on the interview protocol.

The third step in the data collection process involved observations of the principals teaching a Bully Busters lesson to a classroom of students. In this focus school district, principals not only are responsible for implementing the program at the administrative level (in the sense that they introduce the program to the school setting) but also for implementing the actual elements of the program at the classroom level. One

observation was conducted for each participant, and each observation lasted for approximately 40minutes. All data collected during the observations were recorded on the Classroom Observation Checklist Form (see Appendix B).

The fourth and final step in the data collection process involved follow-up calls to principals to collect data about incidents of bullying in the schools. One phone call was made for each participant, and each phone call lasted approximately 3 minutes. All data collected during the follow-up phone calls were recorded on the interview protocol.

In all instances, I collected data myself from the school principals or through direct observation of the principals. When collecting the data, I followed Eisner and Peskin's (1990) guidelines for collecting data:

- Be a good listener: The subject of qualitative research merits that the researcher heed and correctly interpret their responses.
- Record accurately: The researcher should maintain all records accurately by way of detailed notes or electronic recordings.
- Initiate writing early: It helps if the researcher prepares a rough draft of the study before commencing the work of data collection.
- Include the primary data in the final report: The primary data should be included in the final report so that the reader may understand the exact basis upon which the researcher has arrived at her conclusions. "In short, it is better to include too much detail than too little."
- Include all data in the final report: The researcher should include the entire
 data in the final report so that the reader may be enabled his own
 interpretation of the data gathered.

- Be candid: The researcher should be candid and not bother unduly with hiding her own feelings and personal reactions in the study.
- Seek feedback: The researcher should welcome colleagues to offer their feedback on the research manuscript.
- Write accurately: The researcher should not allow incorrect grammar, or statement inconsistency to jeopardize the validity of an otherwise good study.
 (p. 127)

Participants officially exited the study after they gathered their respective bullying incident report data and shared it with me during the follow-up phone call interviews. However, all participants did agree to provide feedback on my preliminary analysis of the data. The process of requesting feedback from participants with regard to preliminary analyses of data is referred to as member checking (Creswell, 2013). This process involves providing study participants with a copy of a researcher's preliminary data analyses and requesting feedback with regard to its overall accuracy (Creswell, 2013). After participants provide feedback, the researcher uses this feedback to make adjustments to the analyses, thereby improving their accuracy and value (Creswell, 2013). However, in this study, all participants agreed with my preliminary analyses of the data and did not provide suggestions for change. As such, I considered the results of my data analyses to be accurate.

Data Analysis Plan

To answer the research question: How can principal knowledge, experience, and implementation of the Bully Busters program contribute to the effective use of the program to prevent/combat cyberbullying in schools? I collected qualitative data using

both interviews and observations. These data were analyzed using NVivo (Version 10), a qualitative data analysis software. To analyze the interview data, I first had to transcribe it verbatim. Then, I imported the transcript data to the NVivo program, which grouped sentences into categories by common topics/terms and then organized the categories by patterns and presented the data thematically. For comparative purposes, I then coded the data manually using the program. First I coded at the sentences level, then I grouped sentences into categories. Finally, I identified patterns in those categories (subthemes) and developed overarching themes for the data. I compared my themes to the NVivo themes and found similar results. No discrepant data were identified and only minor changes were made to my themes based on the NVivo output with regard to the identified themes and subthemes.

To analyze the data from the observations, I input each observed activity or principal characteristic from the checklist as well as my additional comments for each of the three checklist categories into the NVivo software program. The remainder of the analysis process for the observation data was identical to the analysis process for the data collected during the interviews.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Because qualitative research differs from quantitative research with respect to the depth of human experiences that are explored, characteristics that typically apply to quantitative research are inappropriate for discussing qualitative research (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). According to Guba and Lincoln (1981), rather than addressing internal validity, external validity, reliability, and objectivity with regard to a study's trustworthiness, the aspects of credibility, fittingness, auditability, and confirmability are

more appropriate and of consequence (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). More currently, Trochim (2006b) renamed these concepts to better express their described meanings: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability.

Credibility refers to the truth or accuracy of collected data and interpretations based on that data (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). To ensure credibility in my study, I have collected data using two types of strategies, interviews and observations. Arriving at similar themes using two types of data demonstrated the accuracy of my interpretations. Also, I used a form of iterative questioning to ensure the accuracy of the information shared by the participants. According to Shenton (2004), iterative questioning occurs when a "researcher returns to matters previously raised by an informant and extracts related data through rephrased questions " (p. 67). By asking participants to describe their perceptions of both the strengths and weaknesses of the Bully Busters program in addition to their perceptions about the effectiveness of using the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying, I established a means by which to uncover conflicting statements that might indicate participants were not being truthful in their responses, in which case I could make an informed decision as to whether or not to include the data in my analyses.

In addition, I ensured credibility by conducting member checking. According to Creswell (2003), "member checking is used to determine the accuracy of the qualitative findings through taking the final report or specific descriptions or themes back to participants and determining whether these participants feel that they are accurate" (p. 196). To conduct member checking in my study, I e-mailed to the principals the preliminary thematic descriptions and draft of my discussion and asked them to review

my interpretations and provide feedback as to whether or not they believed I had accurately described the overall conditions and perspectives associated with the Bully Busters program in their schools. In particular, I asked those who disagreed with my interpretations to provide feedback describing aspects of my perspective they felt were inaccurate. Because I did not receive any responses from the principals, I understood this to mean that they agreed with my preliminary interpretation of the data.

Although results of a qualitative study cannot be transferred (generalized) to other populations, Guba and Lincoln (1981) suggested that results can be discussed in terms of fittingness in similar contexts with similar populations. The potential to discuss how results from one population may fit with another population is contingent upon the extent of knowledge the researcher has with the original context, which can be established by developing thick and rich descriptions of the data (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). In my study, I established the potential to discuss my results in other contexts by providing rich thick descriptions of my data.

Dependability refers to a researcher's ability to navigate changing settings (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). This condition warrants consideration in qualitative research because the data are based on the personal perspectives of participants, which cannot be exactly replicated (Trochim, 2006b). In qualitative research, dependability can be established by clearly identifying the steps in the research process and implementing a means by which to ensure the quality of data (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). In this study, I established dependability by describing, in depth, my process for gathering and analyzing my data (see previous sections on data collection and analysis in Section 3). Also, I incorporated into the research plan feedback from my committee members, which helped ensure I

collected quality data. In addition, I collected data using two methods: interviews and observations. Collecting and analyzing data from multiple sources helped ensure the conclusions I drew from the data were accurate, that is, dependable.

Confirmability refers to a researcher's ability to corroborate study outcomes by considering the research process in which the original researcher engaged (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). Researchers can provide other researchers the opportunity to confirm their work by keeping it free of researcher bias and by reporting their research methods clearly, thoroughly, and accurately (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). In this way, researchers can consider the conditions under which the original researcher arrived at his or her conclusions and thus make a determination about the value of the study and the reported outcomes (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). To provide other researchers the opportunity to confirm my study results, I have clearly, thoroughly, and accurately reported my research methods. I addition, I addressed the potential for researcher bias in my study and the steps I took to reduce its impact on my work.

Ethical Procedures

During all aspects of my research, I considered the ethical implications of my work. For example, before beginning any data collection, I requested and was granted permission to conduct my study by Walden University's Institutional Review Board (#03-14-14-0154711). Also, at all times during my study, I considered the ethical treatment of my participants. According to Silverman (2011), "Research subjects have the right to know that they are being researched, the right to be informed about the nature of the research, and the right to withdraw at any time" (p. 418). This information can and should be communicated with participants using a consent form (Silverman, 2011). In

this study, I provided the participants a consent form that included general information about the study but also information regarding expectations of participants and their rights as participants, including the right to exit the study at any time without penalty or repercussion. In addition, I did proceed with data collection until the participants had agreed to the terms indicated on the consent form.

Ethical treatment of participants also includes the maintenance of participant confidentiality, which can be accomplished by protecting the identity of their participants (Silverman, 2011). Throughout all stages of data collection and analysis, I maintained participant confidentiality. In particular, I kept a master list of participant names along with participant numbers I assigned arbitrarily to each participant. This was necessary because I collected data over time and used two different methods. Because the data were deidentified, I needed to be able to identify which participant was associated with each set of data I collected so that I could group the multiple data sets by participant. I kept the master list of participants and cross-referenced participant numbers in a locked filing cabinet in my office. When I had completed the member checking process, I shredded the master list. Also, I kept all I will keep all raw data for 5 years as required by Walden University, after which time I will destroy it.

Summary

This qualitative study was conducted to answer two research questions: How do the principals' perceptions, knowledge, experience, and implementation of the Bully Busters program help make the program an effective process to prevent/combat cyberbullying in schools? What are the key factors of implementing an antibullying program to combat cyberbullying? The principals who participated in this study were

from one school district in northeastern Indiana, and I recruited them using purposive sampling. As the primary researcher in this study, I was responsible for all aspects of data collection and analysis.

To collect data, I conducted interviews and observations. Then I used NVivo software to categorize the data and identify patterns and themes. Into my data collection and analysis plans, I infused measures to ensure trustworthiness of the study. In particular, I addressed the trustworthiness aspects of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. Finally, I took measures to ensure that I conducted my study following only ethical standards for research.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to gain insight into the principals' perceptions of the Bully Busters program in combating cyberbullying in elementary schools. A secondary purpose in this study was to identify strategies for implementing the Bully Busters program as a means of combating cyberbullying. Two research questions were developed to reflect the purposes of this study. The central research question was: What are principals' perceptions with regard to the key factors of implementing the Bully Busters program as a means of combatting cyberbullying? The secondary research question was: How can principal knowledge, experience, and implementation of the Bully Busters program contribute to the effective use of the program to prevent/combat cyberbullying in schools? In this section, I present a discussion of the potential for the setting to affect the interpretation of the data and a summary of the participant demographics and the data collection and analysis processes. Next I present evidence of trustworthiness. Finally, I present the results of this data analysis and a chapter summary.

Setting

To my knowledge, no large-scale changes had been implemented in any participant's school which would have influenced their experiences, responses, or attitudes expressed in their responses to the interview questions. In addition, all participants had been in their current position as principal for several years prior to the interview, and had several years of experience in implementing and using the Bully Busters program. Although I am unaware of any personal conditions that may have affected participants at the time of data collection for this study, it is reasonable to conclude that principals would not have agreed to participate in my study if they were

experiencing undue personal (or organizational) stress at the time of recruitment.

Therefore, it was assumed that the data were unaffected by extenuating circumstances, and no additional considerations were made when interpreting the data.

Demographics

The interviewed sample included three elementary school principals; two of the participants were female and one was male. The participants were between 40 and 50 years of age; one participant was Black and 2 participants were White. The number of years they served as principals at the elementary school level ranged from 8 to 20, with an average of 13.33 years. The number of years they served as principals at their respective schools ranged from 4 to 10 years, with an average of 7.67. Participant 1 had knowledge of the Bully Busters program for 3 years, Participant 2 had 10 years of knowledge regarding the program, and Participant 3 had 5 years of knowledge (M = 6 years). Each participant's school had been using the Bully Busters program for 2 or 3 years.

Data Collection

I collected data through interviews and observations. These data collection processes were used to collect data from all three participants equally. There were no variations in the data collection processes described in Chapter 3, and no unusual circumstances occurred during the data collection period. Interview data were collected via two phone interviews (one preliminary and one follow up) and one face-to-face interview per participant. The phone interviews lasted approximately 5 minutes each and the face-to-face interviews lasted approximately 80 minutes each. The face-to-face interviews were conducted in each principal's office. Observation data were collected

during classroom observations in which the principals taught a Bully Busters lesson. I observed each principal one time for approximately 40 minutes. All data were recorded by hand.

Data Analysis

As described in Chapter 3, I used the NVivo software program to aid in my data analysis. After I imported the transcript data to the NVivo program, the program grouped sentences into categories by common topics/terms and then organized the categories by patterns and presented the data thematically. For comparative purposes, I then used the program to code the data manually. During this manual coding process, I first coded the data at the sentences level. Then I grouped sentences into categories. Finally, I identified patterns in those categories (subthemes) and developed overarching themes for the data.

For example, I used the code *home environment* for statements in which participants referred to students' home environment and grouped them into the category Unable to effect change in home environment. The following four statements were appropriate for this category:

- "I feel that the program is designed for the average student . . . not students that have issues. When I say issues, I mean students that are not average, two parent, white middle class, loving family home." (Participant 1)
- "It is hard to get this program in every home . . . virtually impossible."
- "I would say the biggest weakness of the program would be the lack of transferability to the home environment." (Participant 2)
- "This program is geared for schools . . . and most problems stem from the home environment." (Participant 3)

I used the code *cost* for statements in which participants referred to monetary aspects of implementing the program and grouped them into the category Expensive. The following three statements were appropriate for this category:

- "The expense to get a book into every teacher's hand and train each teacher on all the applications of the program." (Participant 1)
- "Another weakness is the expense to get a book into every teacher's and parent's hand and train each and every one about all the applications of the program." (Participant 2)
- "Boy would that be expensive . . . a cost from a district that is already strapped for funds!" (Participant 3)

Finally, I combined the two categories Unable to affect home environment and Expensive to create the theme Shortcomings. Other derived themes included Participants are knowledgeable about cyberbullying, Participants supported broader application of the program, Participants need to be proactive, These themes are discussed in the subsequent Presentation of Results section.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

No adjustments were made to the plan for ensuring trustworthiness of the data by demonstrating credibility, fittingness, dependability, and confirmability. I collected data using two types of strategies and having arrived at similar themes through both automated and manual analyses, I demonstrated credibility in my study. In addition, results of the member checking process help demonstrate credibility of my initial analyses. Participant 1 thanked me for sharing the data and stated, "I agree with the findings that you want to report." Participant 2 expressed gratitude for being included in

the study and stated, "The data you composed is very interesting, and I agree with it."

Participant 3 also expressed appreciation for the opportunity to be a part of the study and stated, "your findings appear to be exactly as we discussed during the collection process."

The statements made by the participants indicated that they agreed with my initial interpretations of the data, and thus demonstrated credibility of the data and analyses.

In my study, I established the potential to discuss my results in other contexts (fittingness) by providing rich thick descriptions of my data. I demonstrated dependability in my study by describing, in depth, my process for gathering and analyzing my data and by not deviating from that plan during its implementation. Also, that both types of data (interview and observation) contributed to the development of single themes suggested the data were dependable. As a result, other researchers may apply these results to their own studies as they determine them to be applicable. So that other researchers might have the opportunity to confirm my study results, I have clearly, thoroughly, and accurately reported my research methods, and I avoided researcher bias in both my data collection and analysis processes by acknowledging the potential for researcher bias and considering my personal experiences that may have contributed to bias in my study. I did not identify any such experiences nor did I discover any predetermined expectations for the study outcomes.

Results

In this section, I address the research questions. For each research question, I discuss the applicable themes generated during the data analysis process. There are no discrepant data to report.

Central Research Question

In this section, I discuss themes generated during the data analysis process applicable to the Central Research Question: What are principals' perceptions with regard to the key factors of implementing the Bully Busters program as a means of combatting cyberbullying? Four themes were generated from the data: Shortcomings of the Bully Busters Program, Bully Busters Program is Highly Effective, Participants Supported Broader Application of the Program, and Participants Need to be Proactive. The first two themes, although not directly related to cyberbullying, support this research question because they demonstrate an underlying understanding of the strengths and weakness of the Bully Busters program. Because the principals have demonstrated such understanding, it is feasible that they could successfully implement the Bully Busters program as a method for combating cyberbullying.

Theme 1A: Shortcomings and Drawbacks of the Bully Busters Program

Although participants perceived the Bully Busters program to be highly effective (discussed in a subsequent theme), participants also noted shortcomings and drawbacks of the Bully Busters program. Associated subthemes were the inability to effect change in the home environment and expenses associated with implementing the program were limitations. Evidence to support these subthemes are presented here thematically.

Unable to affect home environment. Both Participants 1 and 2 cited the program's inability to address bullying behaviors that are either promoted or not deterred in the home environment as a shortcoming of the program. For example, Participant 2 stated:

I feel that the program is designed for the average student . . . not students that have issues. When I say issues, I mean students that are not average: two parent, white middle class, loving family home. It is not designed . . . I feel, to deal with individuals . . . it is more whole group settings.

Similarly, Participant 1 indicated that the Bully Busters program could not effectively address issues related to bullying that occur in the home environment, as evident in the following statement:

I would say the biggest weakness of the program would be the environment. This program is geared for schools . . . and most problems stem from the home environment. It is hard to get this program in every home . . . virtually impossible.

Expensive. Two participants cited the cost of implementing the Bully Busters program as a drawback. Participants 1 and 3 indicated that the program is expensive to implement fully and both referenced the program booklets specifically. Participant 1 stated:

Another weakness is the expense to get a book into every teacher and parents hand and train each and every one about all the applications of the program. Boy would that be expensive . . . a cost from a district that is already strapped for funds! Don't see it happening.

Participant 3 stated, "The expense to get a book into every teacher's hand and train each teacher on all the applications of the program." Participant 3 also indirectly referred to cost when the participant stated, "Besides, with our lack of funds, we really did not have the money to present the, I mean implement, the program in each classroom via the team approach." Participant 2 indirectly addressed the cost of the program: "Because of budget

cuts, we elected the individual approach" (as opposed to a team approach to implementing the program).

Participants did not provide suggestions to remedy the identified shortcoming and drawback but simply stated that administrators should take these considerations into account when choosing to implement the program. In their schools, the principals addressed the cost of the program by keeping school copies of the program booklets in lieu of purchasing copies to distribute to the entire student body.

Theme 1B: The Bully Busters Program Is Highly Effective

All three participants indicated that the program was highly effective. Participant 1 responded, "I feel that this program is very effective. On a scale of 1-10 with 10 being the best and 1 being the worse [sic], I would rate it at the least 9.5" and also that "The program really works!" Participant 2 responded, "I would rate it [the program] high in its ability to help make a difference. I know that this program has helped in our school." Participant 3 stated,

The Bully Busters program is such a great addition to what works to help reduce bully behavior in the school. We are better because we utilize it. . . . I would rate this program high in its effectiveness with reducing bully behaviors.

Two participants gave specific examples of demonstrated change resulting from the implementation of the Bully Busters program. Participant 2 stated, "I have really seen positive behaviors in the students. They really strive to be positive citizens." Participant 3 provided this anecdotal example:

When we first started using the program, we had unfortunately at least one or two incidents of bullying a week and sometimes more. Now, since we have used the program, we have maybe one or two every other month or even less!

In the form of program strengths, participants also gave reasons they perceived the program to be effective. The common strength identified among the three participants was awareness. Participant 1 stated, "I think the major strength of the program is the increase of awareness for both the answer to what a bully is and what a victim is." Participant 2 stated, "Awareness!! That is the biggest strength of this program in my opinion, the vast amounts of awareness that you encounter with this program. They do a great job helping you to identify and 'call out' the bullies." Participant 2 also emphasized the value of increasing such awareness during the formative years of students' lives when it is possible to instill in them the values associated with rejecting bullying and victim behaviors. Similarly, Participant 3 stated, "One of the biggest strengths is that it helped to shine the light on the need to be aware of what we can do to help reduce bullies and aware of how we cannot be victims of bullies." The same participant also said, "You have to make everyone aware that bullies exist and that NOONE needs to be a victim or bully! This program is excellent at helping us be aware of this and what to do about it."

Theme 1C: Participants Supported Broader Application of the Program

All three participants indicated that the Bully Busters program could be used in a broader application of the program, specifically to prevent cyberbullying. With regard to using the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying within the entire school district (as opposed the participant's particular school), Participant 1 stated, "I think that the program would work well with the prevention of cyberbully behaviors as well as it does

on bully behavior. It would not hurt to try." Participant 2 responded, "I think this program is already effective as a cyberbully intervention program." Participant 3 responded:

The program can easily be geared towards ANY bully. The bully can be a playground bully; a classroom bully; a bus bully; a bathroom bully; or even a cyberbully. I use the same approach in dealing with the bully and victim. You have to make everyone aware that bullies exist and that *no one* needs to be a victim or bully! This program is excellent at helping us be aware of this . . . and what to do about it. With all that said . . . yes, I think this program would be an effective choice as a cyberbully prevention program.

All three participants also suggested that they already had applied the program to cyberbullying in their respective schools. Participant 3 reported "speaking from first-hand knowledge," which suggested that the participant had applied the Bully Busters program in this manner. Participant 2 was more direct: "For the last 3 years, I have addressed both forms of bullying behavior in my activities with the students. We talk openly about both . . . bullies and cyberbullies." Participant 1 responded in a similar fashion: "I have used it [the Bully Busters program] to address both [bullying and cyberbullying] and it works. . . . It worked for my school." Of the three participants, only Participant 1 provided an explanation for how the Bully Busters program could be applied to combat cyberbullying: "I think it would work by adding the language of cyberbully from just bully."

Theme 1D: Participants Need To Be Proactive

Two participants indicated that participants need to be proactive with regard to combatting bullying and cyberbullying and specifically mentioned being proactive at the district level. Participant 3 responded:

We have seen really good results here at our school. I want the district to really think long and hard about the prevailing threats of cyberbullying and any other type of bullying that can lead to drastic means. It is best to do preventative efforts then [sic] to wait until it becomes an epidemic.

Participant 1 expressed a similar perspective:

I love the Bully Busters program, and I would like to see it offered to all the schools across the district. Because we are constantly seeing an increase in this form of bully behavior . . . cyberbullying . . . but we as a district are unprepared to deal with it . . . I really feel that teachers having the knowledge of how to recognize bully characteristics . . . they can better handle the prevention of bully behaviors.

Participant 2 did not make a direct statement about being proactive. However, the participant did express the intent to make a personal effort to do more:

This interview has enlightened me to want to do more . . . work harder with the individual students to both address and replace the negative with the positive attitude and behaviors . . . I really am going to work harder to help the bully know that they need to replace the negative with something positive and to not be aggressive; to work with the victim and teach them to be assertive; and finally to work with the by-stander to not be afraid to take a stand.

These comments can be interpreted as an interest in being proactive with regard to decreasing the incidence of bullying and cyberbullying.

Secondary Research Question

In this section, I discuss themes generated during the data analysis process applicable to the Secondary Research Question: How can principal knowledge, experience, and implementation of the Bully Busters program contribute to the effective use of the program to prevent/combat cyberbullying in schools? Four themes were generated from the data: Participants are Knowledgeable about Bullying and Cyberbullying, Participants are Knowledgeable about the Bully Busters Program, Participants Have Experience With the Program, and Principals Properly Implement the Bully Busters Program.

Theme 2A: Participants Are Knowledgeable About Bullying and Cyberbullying

Participants in this study demonstrated knowledge about bullying and cyberbullying in multiple regards, specifically with regard to the definition of bullying and cyberbullying, the unique dangers posed by cyberbullying, and the incidence of bullying and cyberbullying in the school district. All three of the participants indicated that they perceived bullying to be a form of intentional intimidation or overpowering of others. Participant 2 defined bullying as "a systemic consistent overpowering ability of one individual of another person's weakness." Participant 3 suggested that this "form of intimidation [bullying] does not have a reason, though the bully will often say that they had a reason." Participant 1 described bullying as "a form of intimidation that is intentional and done indiscreetly" and ultimately "prevents others from feeling safe." Participant 3 also maintained that bullying involves "a person that intentionally . . . picks

on another person without cause or reason." These participants provided definitions that matched with the general understanding of bullying, as described by Hinduja and Patchin (2009), as a behavior that involves an exercise of power that affects its victim adversely

One participant also demonstrated knowledge of bullying concepts through his implementation action plan. Participant 1 demonstrated knowledge of bullying through his discretion while implementing the program. In particular, Participant 1 encouraged students to communicate their concerns with him, but, realizing the potential for students to be targeted and potentially bullied for sharing those concerns, Participant 1 arranged for the students to report their concerns discreetly by using a drop box.

Participants in this study also demonstrated knowledge about cyberbullying.

Participants tended to agree that any time bullying, as they previously defined it, occurs over an electronic media, it may be considered cyberbullying. Participant 1 offered the following explanation:

I see cyberbullying as any cyber-communication or publication posted or sent by someone online, by instant message, e-mail, website, diary site, online profile, interactive game, handheld device, cell phone, game device, digital camera or video, webcam or the use of any interactive digital device with the intent to . . . is intended to frighten, embarrass, harass, hurt, set up, cause harm to, extort, or otherwise target another person.

Participant 2 provided a similar response, describing cyberbullying as "the use of social media to systematically overtly threaten with electronic genres." These responses were congruent with Li's (2008) definition of cyberbullying as "bullying via electronic communication tools such as email, cell phone, personal digital assistant (PDA), instant

messaging, or the World Wide Web" (p. 224). Finally, Participant 3 suggested that cyberbullying "would be classified as using any electronic device for the intension of causing embarrassment and or harm to another person." The same Participant also shared the school district's definition of cyberbullying: "any electronically generated material that conveys an offensive or obscene message meant to harm or intimidate another student or staff member."

Both Participants 1 and 2 demonstrated an understanding of the unique nature of cyberbullying. Participant 2 stated, "I think that this form of bullying [cyberbullying] is by far the most dangerous!" Participant 2 went on to explain that what makes it especially dangerous is that "the cyberbully actually targets the victim. . . . it is like they take the time to study their victim." Participant 1 indicated that cyberbullying is especially problematic because "it is easier for the bully to hide."

Only one participant made note of the incidence of bullying and cyberbullying. Participant 1 stated that the school district has experienced an increase in all types of bullying, including peer bullying and student bullying of teachers. No participants made note of increases of bullying or cyberbullying at their respective schools. This is likely because the participants indicated that the Bully Busters program was working in their schools.

Theme 2B: Participants Have Experience with the Bully Busters Program

One inclusion criterion for this study was that participants had to have implemented the Bully Busters Program in their elementary schools. Therefore, all participants in this study had experience with the Bully Busters program. With regard to this criterion, Participant 1 reported having 2 years of experience, and Participants 2 and

3 each reported having 3 years of experience. In addition to stating their level of experience with the Bully Busters program, participant responses to interview questions demonstrated that the participants had experience with the Bully Busters program.

Participant 1 reported presenting the program material daily when the program was first implemented and then weekly thereafter. Participant 1 stated, "We decided to follow the individual approach and appointed myself as the individual that would present the material and lessons to the students. . . . I am the main individual that presents the material." Participant 1 also stated that "I sometimes have to skip classrooms scheduled for a visit because another classroom my need more attention." This statement also demonstrated Participant 1 had experience with the Bully Busters program because without such experience, the participant likely would have kept to the predetermined schedule of lessons assigned to classrooms and not modified the schedule based on interpreted need.

Participant 2 reported visiting classrooms once a week for 6 weeks at the start of the school year and again for 6 weeks at the end of the school year. The participant explained, "It is a systematic approach. Week 1 I present to the Kindergartners; Week 2 Grade 1; Week 3 Grade 2; Week 4 Grade 3; Week 5 Grade 4; and Week 6 Grade 5." Like Participant 1, Participant 2 also indicated the occasional need to revisit problem classrooms: "Occasionally, I need to revisit a classroom if there are problems that need to be addressed." Again, acknowledging that some classrooms need additional attention and feeling comfortable enough to modify the lesson schedule demonstrates a certain level of experience implementing the program.

Like Participant 1, Participant 3 also presented lessons at least once a week.

Exceptions included weeks in which testing occurred, weeks during which holidays fell, and the last week of school. The principal acknowledged that "during those times the attention spans are so low it would be ineffective. They [the students] do not want to hear from me . . . they have party times on their minds." Also, Participant 3 presented lessons twice in a week if the need presented itself: "When we see a rise in bullying . . . Yes, that's when we have a need to do some reminders, and, as Barney Fife would say, 'Nip it in the bud.'"

Finally, participants demonstrated that they had experience with the Bully Busters program during the observation phase of the data collection process. Each participant presented a Bully Busters lesson to a classroom of students. In each case, the participant appeared comfortable with the content. I accepted this observation as evidence that the participants had experience with the Bully Busters program.

Theme 2C: Participants Are Knowledgeable About the Bully Busters Program

As described in the demographics section of this chapter, Participants 1, 2, and 3 reported having known about the Bully Busters program for 3, 10, and 5 years, respectively. In addition, it was assumed that participants in this study had at least some level of knowledge about the Bully Busters program because one of the inclusion criteria was that participants had implemented the program at their school. Therefore, if the participant had implemented the program him/herself, he/she would have to have some knowledge about how the program works.

Participant responses to interview questions also demonstrated that the participants were knowledge about various aspects of the program and its potential for

most effectively changing student behaviors. For example, Participants 1 and 3 implemented a whole class approach to the Bully Busters program wherein the entire class would be part of the educational process. Participant 1 was observed using this approach.

Participant 3 suggested that in this way, even if the bully is in the classroom, they are not (in some ways) signaled out as the villain but as part of the class working to make things better. I have found that this method is successful because it allows everyone to work together to make the problem better.

Also, participants indicated that they either placed or needed to place emphasis on increasing awareness of what a bully is, and how to prevent one's self from being a victim through this increased awareness and understanding.

Participant 1 reported, "When I present the material I start with increasing the awareness of what a bully is and how we can prevent ourselves from being a victim. We focus on why bullies do what they do and what bullying is."

Participant 2 stated,

We really have to work more with all three individuals, the bully/cyberbully, the victim, and the bystander . . . to help the bully know that they need to replace the negative with something positive and to not be aggressive; to work with the victim and teach them to be assertive; and finally to work with the by-stander to not be afraid to take a stand.

Finally, Participant 3 stated, "You have to make everyone aware that bullies exist and that no one needs to be a victim or bully!" Although this statement was not a direct claim that the participant focused on student awareness during the implementation of the

Bully Busters program at the participant's school, the use of the second person pronoun *you* can be interpreted to mean that the participant was speaking from experience, in which case, the participant likely did focus on student awareness. In all cases, this emphasis on awareness demonstrated that the participants were knowledgeable about the underlying tenants of the Bully Busters program.

Theme 2D: Principals Properly Implement the Bully Busters Program

The final theme that emerged in this study was that participants properly implemented the Bully Busters program. This theme was derived from two subthemes: followed the program guidelines and demonstrated characteristics conducive to effective teaching. Proper implementation of the program was considered to be demonstrated not only by statements participants made about how they implemented the program according to the program guidelines but also through observations of (a) how the participants demonstrated variety and pacing of instruction, (b) were well organized, and (c) demonstrated presentation skills (that support the development of instructor/student rapport). Because it stands to reason that by varying and pacing instruction, being well organized, and having strong presentation skills (which can help develop instructor/student rapport), could improve teaching effectiveness in an educational setting, and because the implementation of the Bully Busters program in essence constitutes the translation of information in an educational setting (i.e., teaching), it also stands to reason that these same participant characteristics could be considered characteristics that support the proper implementation of the Bully Busters program.

Followed the program guidelines. Participant 1 made a direct statement regarding following program guidelines. The participant stated, "We also focus on the

effects of the bully behavior as the program recommends." All three participants indirectly suggested that they followed the Bully Busters program guidelines when they stated that they used the individual approach to implement the program. Using the individual approach, a single individual is selected to present the Bully Busters program lessons to the students as opposed to a team of teachers/staff/administrators. With regard to the individual approach, Participant 1 stated, "We decided to follow the individual approach and appointed myself as the individual that would present the material and lessons to the students." Similarly, Participant 2 indicated that the individual approach was chosen but also provided and explanation for doing so: "Because of budget cuts, we elected the individual approach." Participant 3 also indicated that the individual approach was chosen and explained why:

We definitely followed the individual approach and chose not to follow the team approach. The reason we chose this form to implementation is because (at the time) we were short staffed and I played the role of teacher/instructor. With that in mind, since we choose the individual method, tag, I was the individual! Besides, with our lack of funds, we really did not have the money to present the, I mean implement, the program in each classroom via the team approach.

Although Participants 2 and 3 clearly stated that they followed the individual approach for implementing the Bully Busters program, both participants also reported that several staff members were selected as a support team during the implementation process.

Demonstrated characteristics conducive to effective teaching. Three categories of characteristics made up this subtheme. The first characteristic conducive to effective teaching that became evident during the observations was that the principals

varied and paced instruction. All participants used more than one form (variety) of instructional material. Participant 1 used a PowerPoint presentation, lecture with whole class discussion, whole class activity, and handouts. Participant 2 used whole class discussion, whole class activity, and a handout. Participant 3 used transparencies, whole class discussion, and a handout. All participants used instructional material that appeared suitable for the age of the students and the lesson objective. All the participants appropriately paced the material in order to complete the lesson during the scheduled class period (approximately 38 minutes). All participants used additional pacing practices such as pausing after asking questions, allowing students time to respond to questions, actively engaging students in activities/discussions, guiding the length of discussions, providing explicit directions for active learning tasks (rationale), and communicating the reasoning process behind the concepts.

The second characteristic conducive to effective teaching that became evident during the observations was that the principals were well organized. All participants arrived on time to the classroom and with the materials and equipment needed for the lesson. All participants were able to keep the students participating in an organized fashion by asking them to raise their hands to participate. Additionally, all participants provided me with an outline of the goals and objectives for the class session, followed the provided outline, and were able to complete the lesson within the time frame.

The third characteristic conducive to effective teaching that became evident during the observations was that the principals demonstrated presentation skills and built instructor/student rapport. All the participants demonstrated good presentation skills by using speech that was clear and audible from the back of the classroom. Also, all the

participants used appropriate visual aids that supported the lesson, maintained eye contact with the students, and engaged students in classroom discussion. Instructor/student rapport was evident in the students' motivation and eagerness to participate in the classroom activities. Also, Participant 1 called each student by name to participate. Participant 2 gave each student an opportunity to try the activity and would say, "Good try (student name)" after each student participated in the activity. Lastly, Participant 3 appeared supportive of discussions and asked the students to express their decisions in a quitter manner. Participant 3 said, "I love hearing from all of you, but let's talk one at a time. There are 25 of you, and only one of me." The students laughed and responded positively by raising their hands to participate.

Summary

There was one central research question for this study and a secondary question. The central research question was: What are principals' perceptions with regard to the key factors of implementing the Bully Busters program as a means of combatting cyberbullying? Overall, although the principals identified shortcomings and drawbacks of the Bully Busters program, they also indicated that it was effective for preventing bullying. Because they perceived the program to be effective and because they indicated the program's focus could easily be changed from traditional bullying to cyberbully by changing the terminology used and modifying the examples, the principals all suggested that the Bully Busters program would be effective for combating cyberbullying.

The secondary question was: How can principal knowledge, experience, and implementation of the Bully Busters program contribute to the effective use of the program to prevent/combat cyberbullying in schools? Principals demonstrated that they

(a) were knowledgeable about bullying and cyberbully, (b) had experience with the Bully Busters program, and (c) were knowledgeable about the Bully Busters program. Because of their knowledge and experience with these concepts and the Bully Busters program, the principals were easily able to demonstrate clear plans for using the program to combat cyberbullying. Principals' knowledge of bullying and cyberbullying allowed the principals to make connections between the two behaviors and their experience implementing the Bully Busters program allowed them to identify how program lessons could be adapted from traditional bullying to cyberbullying. The results of this study as they pertain to the research questions are discussed further in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

This qualitative study was conducted to examine principals' perceptions with regard to implementing the Bully Busters program as an effective measure to combat cyberbullying in elementary schools. This study was needed because insufficient attention had been given to the possibility of using an effective antibullying program as a means of decreasing cyberbullying behaviors. By conducting this study, this gap in the literature has been lessened.

The data I gathered for this study were collected using semistructured interviews and observations. Data collected using the interview protocol represent the perspectives of three elementary school principals who had implemented the Bully Busters program in their schools prior to this study. Demographic data were reported and responses to the primary interview questions were analyzed using NVivo software. From the resulting themes that emerged, several key concepts were noted. Principals all were knowledgeable about bullying and cyberbullying, and had experience with, were knowledgeable about, and properly implemented the Bully Busters program. In addition, although the principals noted shortcomings and drawbacks of the Bully Busters program, they all indicated that it was effective in reducing incidents of bullying and had implemented the program, to some degree or another, to combat cyberbullying as well. With regard to implementing the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying, the principals noted the need to be proactive rather than reactive.

This chapter includes four sections followed by concluding remarks. First, an interpretation of the study findings is presented. Second, the limitations of the study are

discussed. Third, recommendations for action and further study are provided. Finally, implications of the study results are considered.

Interpretation of the Findings

Four key themes were generated during the data analysis process applicable to the Central Research Question: What are principals' perceptions with regard to the key factors of implementing the Bully Busters program as a means of combating cyberbullying? Those themes were (a) shortcomings and drawbacks of the Bully Busters program, (b) Bully Busters program is highly effective, (c) participants supported broader application of the program, and (d) participants need to be proactive.

With regard to Theme 1A, shortcomings and drawbacks of the Bully Busters program, participants indicated that the Bully Busters program was imperfect. Specifically, participants pointed to the study's immutability with regard to environmental impact. The Bully Busters program, the principals stated, was not easily transferred to the home environment. This perspective is supported in the literature. For example, Brooks (2004) found that exposing students to the Bully Busters program in the school environment was not sufficient enough to impact the student's behavior in other environments and suggested that the program be extended to additional environments. Additionally, Hahn et al. (2007) noted the importance of including parent skills and community intervention in antibullying programs.

Participants also indicated that the cost of the Bully Busters program was a drawback. With regard to the effectiveness of the Bully Busters program, Bell (2008) concluded that it could be considered effective because of the outcome to cost ratio, citing the program as relatively inexpensive. However, the cost incurred with the

purchase of the Bully Busters program is associated with the number of manuals purchased and whether the program is implemented using an individual approach or a team approach. It is possible that in Bell's study, the schools implemented an individual approach and thus incurred a lower cost for implementing the program because only one manual needed to be purchased to implement the program.

Also, it should be considered that perspective of cost may be related to the particular characteristics of any individual school. Because all schools are subjected to budget constraints and the cost of the Bully Busters program would be the same regardless of who purchased it, it is likely that other principals and school administrators would agree that the program is costly, as demonstrated in this study. On the other hand, because school budgets may differ drastically based on socioeconomic conditions within the community, principals in school districts with strong socioeconomic standings may consider the cost of the Bully Busters program to be acceptable.

Theme 1B, the Bully Busters program is highly effective, emerged from the data because all the participants agreed that the Bully Busters program was suitable for combating both traditional bullying as well as cyberbullying in their schools. As mentioned previously, Bell (2008) concluded that the Bully Busters program can be considered effective when considering the outcome to cost ratio. This conclusion was based on inconsistent results indicating increases in teacher efficacy, decreases in incidents of bullying behavior as reported by the teacher participants, and both decreases and increases in bullying behaviors as reported by the student participants (Bell, 2008). Although Bell's conclusion that the Bully Busters program is effective is tenuous based on the study results, it is possible that no significant trends among decreased levels of

bullying behavior were found because the school staff did not implement the Bully Busters program as it was intended to be implemented but rather an abbreviated version of the program.

Findings from Brooks (2004) minimally support this theme. Although Brooks found the Bully Busters program was effective for increasing teachers' knowledge about how to use bullying prevention and intervention measures to combat bullying, less effect was noted for students. Specifically, although Brooks found that students' self-reported levels of participation in bullying behavior decreased, the students' scores of bullying behavior as measured by the Behavior Assessment System for Children-Child Version indicated no changes in scores between pre- and posttests.

With regard to Theme 1C, participants supported a broader application of the program, with all three participants indicated that the Bully Busters program could be used in a broader application, specifically to prevent cyberbullying. At the time of this study, no literature existed on the use of the Bully Busters program for combating cyberbullying. However, the participants in this study suggested that for general education purposes, the Bully Busters program lessons could be easily modified by exchanging the term *bully* with *cyberbully* and *bullying* with *cyberbullying*. Considering the proliferation in cyberbullying events associated with the rising use of electronic means of communication in the 21st century and accepting the premise that school principals are knowledgeable about current events and conditions that might affect the safety of students in their schools, it is highly probable that principals who have implemented the Bully Busters program in their schools have made the connection

between the use of the program to combat bullying and the potential for program modification to address the issue of cyberbullying.

Although no connection has been made specifically between the use of the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying, researchers have suggested that traditional bullying programs may be effective for combatting cyberbullying. For example, in a study of 2,042 students divided into a control group (n = 665) and an intervention group (n = 1,377), Gradinger, Yanagida, Strohmeier, and Spiel (2015) examined the effects on cyberbullying of a traditional antibullying program with no cyberbullying content. Results of analyses indicated that the traditional antibullying program was effective against cyberbullying and cyberbullying victimization when controlling for both traditional bully behaviors and traditional victimization (Gradinger et al., 2015).

Theme 1D, participants need to be proactive, emerged from the data based on responses from all three participants. Two of the three participants indicated the need to be proactive at the school district level, while one participant expressed the desire to do more within the participant's own school. In his speech at the White House Conference on Bullying Prevention (White House, 2011), President Obama expressed a similar sentiment. The president called for all citizens in the nation to be proactive and to do something to help create a bully free environment. Olweus (2012) called upon schools to direct their antibullying efforts not only to counteract traditional bullying but to help reduce the prevalence of cyberbullying as well. Additionally, laws are being established to mandate the proactive involvement of school administrators, district leaders, and state legislators in taking action against bullies and cyberbullies (FindLaw, 2012). Albertson

(2015) has advocated in particular for laws that include criminal sanctions for those who bully others.

Four themes were also generated applicable to the secondary research question: How can principals' knowledge, experience, and implementation of the Bully Busters program contribute to the effective use of the program to prevent/combat cyberbullying in schools? Those themes were (a) participants are knowledgeable about bullying and cyberbullying, (b) participants are knowledgeable about the Bully Busters program, (c) participants have experience with the Bully Busters program, and (d) principals properly implement the Bully Busters program.

With regard to the Theme 2A, participants are knowledgeable about bullying and cyberbullying, all three participants demonstrated being knowledgeable about bullying and cyberbullying. All of the participants provided definitions of bullying and cyberbullying that were congruent with definitions of the terms found in the literature (see Hinduja & Patchin [2009] and Li [2008] respectively). In particular, the participants' definition of bullying behavior included an understanding that bullying involves an exercise of power that affects its victim adversely as suggested by Hinduja and Patchin (2009). Also, the participants' definition of cyberbullying behavior included an understanding that cyberbullying involves bullying using electronic means of communication as suggested by Li (2008).

For Theme 2B, participants are knowledgeable about the Bully Busters program, all three participants demonstrated having knowledge about the Bully Busters program. Specifically, all three participants reported having at least 3 years of knowledge about the program. The need for educators to have knowledge about the Bully Busters program was

expressed by Brooks (2004). In particular, Brooks noted the connection between educators' knowledge of the Bully Busters program and the successful reduction of bullying events in the educational setting.

With regard to Theme 2C, participants have experience with the Bully Busters program, all three participants demonstrated having experience with the Bully Busters program. Brooks (2004) noted the importance of educator experience for the proper implementation of the program. Specifically, Brooks noted that educators need proper skills and tools to educate students about the Bully Busters program, both of which can come from having personal experience with the program. The value of having experience with the Bully Busters program also was demonstrated by the participants in this study through their capacity to make modifications to the program so that it could be used to combat cyberbullying. These adaptations were made after the program was first implemented as it was intended: to combat bullying. This condition demonstrates that the principals' experience implementing the program as it was intended was a precursor to their modification of the program in order to combat cyberbullying and thus, principals' experiences made a valuable contribution to their efforts to combat cyberbullying.

For Theme 2D, principals properly implement the Bully Busters program, all three participants demonstrated proper implementation of the Bully Busters program in two ways. First, the participants indicated they implemented the program using the individual approach. The individual approach is one approach discussed in the Bully Busters program manual (Horne et al., 2003). Second, the participants demonstrated characteristics conducive to effective teaching. Specifically, the principals varied and paced instruction, were well organized, and demonstrated presentation skills and built

instructor/student rapport. These characteristics, either directly or indirectly, all promote student engagement, a condition on which high importance is placed in the Bully Busters manual according to (Horne et al., 2003).

Limitations of the Study

Limitations recognized in this study are related to data collection and the study sample. The first limitation noted in this study is related to the process used to generate and capture data. To collect data in this study, I conducted interviews using a semistructured interview protocol. Although this data collection method was appropriate for the type of study and the protocol prompts were appropriate for generating data related to the topic, I did not follow up on participant responses. In hindsight, it would have been appropriate to prompt participants to give more details when they gave vague or incomplete responses and to clarify their perspectives when their responses were unclear. This lack of follow up may have kept me from generating additional valuable data for analysis. In addition, although I worked diligently to accurately capture participant responses by hand, digitally recording the interviews would have ensured that I both fully and accurately captured participant responses.

The second limitation is related to the small sample size. Various perspectives have been posed in the literature regarding appropriate sample sizes for qualitative research. Onwuegbuzie and Leech (2007), after considering suggestions from multiple researchers, concluded that ideal sample sizes in qualitative studies vary depending on the type of study being conducted. However, in general, the sample size should not be too small so that thick rich descriptions cannot be extracted from the data but also that the sample sizes should not be so big that as to make it impossible for the researcher to

achieve saturation in the data (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007). Lincoln and Guba (1985) also cited saturation as a good indication for determining sample size, while Marshall (1996) and Merriam (2003) suggested that the sample be large enough to generate sufficient data to answer the research questions or questions posed in the study's purpose statement. Unlike these more ambiguous suggestions, Creswell (2008) explicitly stated that four or five participants could be enough to generate themes to describe a phenomenon. With these perspectives in mind, it is possible that I could have generated additional valuable data by moderately increasing the sample size.

The third limitation is related to the narrow scope of the study population.

Participants in this study represented only elementary school principals from one school district in northeastern Indiana. By limiting the participants in school level and geographic location, I may have limited the range of data I generated from participants. Although the results of this study would not have been generalizable to a larger population regardless of any increase in sample diversity, by diversifying the sample, I may have generated additional and insightful perspectives that may have added to the depth of understanding with regard to the study topic.

Recommendations for Future Research

After completing this study and with consideration of the noted study limitations, I have two recommendations for future study. The first recommendation is related to the study design. This study was qualitative in nature and was appropriate for exploring the perspectives of principals with regard to the applicability of the Bully Busters program for combating cyberbullying. However, a quantitative study design also could be beneficial for exploring this topic. This idea is supported in the literature. According to

Trochim (2006a), qualitative research can serve as a useful way of conducting a preliminary investigation of a topic prior to conducting quantitative research. By using random sampling to conduct a quantitative study on the applicability of the Bully Busters program for combating cyberbullying, it would be possible to generate data that could be generalized to the larger population. The ability to generalize the study results would allow for the direct application of study results in more settings, thereby increasing the potential for a large-scale decrease in the incidence of cyberbullying using the Bully Busters program.

The second recommendation is that research be conducted to determine the most effective ways of modifying the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying. The participants in this study indicated the most notable adaptation they made to the implementation of the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying was to replace the term *bullying* with the term *cyberbullying*. However, the dynamics associated with cyberbullying differ from those associated with bullying, specifically with regard to the mode of transmission and the setting. Therefore, it is likely that in some situations, the mere exchange of terminology will not be sufficient enough to render the Bully Busters lessons applicable to cyberbullying. In these cases, it would be helpful to have more information about effective methods for adapting the Bully Busters program to cyberbullying.

Implications

In the digital age of social networking, the incidence of cyberbullying has become an intrinsic part of growing up in a technologically advanced society (Ipsos, 2012). This condition is problematic because cyberbullying, like bullying, can have a negative effect not only the victim (Weathers & Hopson, 2015) but on perpetrators (Gualdo et al., 2015; Olweus, 1993) and bystanders as well (Dillon & Bushman, 2015; Law et al., 2010, NCSE, 2012). To combat bullying in schools, administrators and other school staff have implemented the Bully Busters program with great success (Bell, 2008; Newman-Carlson & Horne, 2004). Results of this study indicated the potential for the Bully Busters program to be used as means of combatting cyberbullying as well. This program has the potential to create social change by helping reduce the incidence of cyberbullying, as Beebe (2014) suggested is possible with well-developed prevention programs.

The three principals who participated in this study indicated that they already use the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying in their schools. However, by participating in this study, it is likely that they have become more cognizant of the extent to which the Bully Busters program may be used as a means of combating cyberbullying and thereby be prompted to more comprehensively implement the program in that capacity. In addition, it is possible that because the shortcomings and drawbacks of the program were called to their attention, the principals may be motivated to find solutions for overcoming those shortcomings and drawbacks. By increasing efforts to combat cyberbullying in these ways, it is likely that the incidence of cyberbullying in these schools will decrease.

Results of this study may be applicable to other populations as well. Although these results are not generalizable to larger populations beyond the three schools involved in this study, other principals in schools in the district may determine for themselves that conditions in their schools are similar to those in this study. Based on that perspective, the principals may decide to implement the Bully Busters program in their school and use

it to combat both bullying and cyberbulling. This scenario represents an example of a decision made within the bounded rationality model of decision making, where decisions are made based on incomplete information about the problem, the alternatives, or both, and are, at least in part, dependent on other less logical approaches (see Lunenburg, 2010). In this model, the Bully Busters program may become an alternative for principals who are striving to combat bullying and cyberbullying but who may not have the time to investigate numerous options or who may have to make a decision quickly. Although the principals may not be able to determine with certainty that the Bully Busters program will be effective for combatting bullying and cyberbullying in their schools, this option may at least appear to be a more logical choice than others. In this way, it is possible that principals in other schools in the district may implement the Bully Busters program to combat cyberbullying, thereby decreasing the incidence of cyberbullying in their schools.

Conclusion

In the digital age of social networking, the incidence of cyberbullying has become an intrinsic part of growing up in a technologically advanced society (Ipsos, 2012). This condition is problematic because cyberbullying, like bullying, can have a negative effect not only the victim (Weathers & Hopson, 2015) but on perpetrators (Gualdo et al., 2015, Olweus, 1993) and bystanders as well (Dillon & Bushman, 2015; Law et al., 2010; NCSE, 2012). Therefore, it is important that attention be paid to ways in which antibcyberbulling efforts may be implemented.

School administrators often are constrained by limited resources, especially time and money. For this reason, they may be forced to make decisions based on limited information. With respect to antibullying and anticyberbullying programs, results of this

study may serve as a source of information. In addition, because purchasing multiple programs could be costly, the use of the Bully Busters program to combat both traditional and cyberbullying is a feasible and appealing option. By reducing the incidence of cyberbullying, children who are bullied may be spared the destructive emotional and psychological effects associated with being a victim of cyberbullying and children who bully may grow to be more well-rounded and responsible citizens.

References

- Albertson, A. K. (2015). Criminalizing bullying: Why Indiana should hold the bully responsible. *Indiana Law Review Archive*, 48(1), 243-271. Retrieved from https://journals.iupui.edu/index.php/inlawrev
- An Act Relative to Bullying in Schools, S. 2323. (2010). Retrieved from https://malegislature.gov/Bills/186/Senate/S2323
- An Act Relative to the Prevention of Bullying, H.R. 483. (2009). Retrieved from http://www.mass.gov/legis/bills/house/186/ht00pdf/ht00483.pdf
- Arslan, S., Savaser, S., Hallett, V., & Balci, S. (2012). Cyberbullying among primary school students in turkey: Self-reported prevalence & associations with home & school life. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior & Social Networking, 15*(10), 527-533. doi:10.1089/cyber.2012.0207
- Barboza, G. E. (2015). The association between school exclusion, delinquency & subtypes of cyber- and F2F-victimizations: Identifying & predicting risk profiles & subtypes using latent class analysis. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *39*, 109-122. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.08.007
- Barlińska, J., Szuster, A., & Winiewski, M. (2013). Cyberbullying among adolescent bystanders: Role of the communication medium, form of violence, & empathy. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology, 23*(1), 37-51. doi: 10.1002/casp.2137
- Baroncelli, A., & Ciucci, E. (2014). Unique effects of different components of trait emotional intelligence in traditional bullying & cyberbullying. *Journal of Adolescence*, *37*(6), 807-815. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2014.05.009

- Baxter, P., & Jack, S., (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design & implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report 13*(4), 544-559 http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR13-4/baxter.pdf
- Beckstrom, D. C. (2008). State legislation mandating school cyberbullying policies & the potential threat to students' free speech rights. *Vermont Law Review*, *33*(2), 283-321. Retrieved from http://lawreview.vermontlaw.edu/
- Beebe, J. E. (2014). A nation at risk: Bullying among children & adolescents. In D. Capuzzi, & D. R. Gross (Eds.), *Youth at risk: A prevention resource for counselors, teachers, & parents* (6th ed.) (pp. 441-464). Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association.
- Bell, C. D. (2008). Evaluation of an abbreviated bully prevention program for reducing aggression in a middle school (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://athenaeum.libs.uga.edu/bitstream/handle/10724/10646/bell_christopher_d_20080 8 phd.pdf?sequence=1
- Bell, C. D., Raczynski, K. A., & Horne, A. M. (2010). Bully Busters abbreviated:
 Evaluation of a group-based bully intervention & prevention program. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, & Practice, 14*(3), 257-267. doi:10.1037/a0020596
- Belsey, B. (2005). *Cyberbullying: An emerging threat to the "always on" generation*.

 Retrieved from www.cyberbullying.ca/pdf/Cyberbullying_Article_by_Bill_

 Belsey.pdf
- Betz, C. L. (2011). Cyberbullying: The virtual threat. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 26(4), 283. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2011.04.002
- Blake, J., Lund, E., Zhou, Q., Oi-man, K., & Benz, M. (2012). National prevalence rates

- of bully victimization among students with disabilities in the United States. *School Psychology Quarterly, 27*(4), 210-222. doi:10.1037/spq0000008
- Brewer, G., & Kerslake, J. (2015). Cyberbullying, self-esteem, empathy & loneliness. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 48, 255-260. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.01.073
- Brooks, J. V. O. (2004). *Bullybusting: A teacher-led psycho-educational program to*reduce bullying & victimization among elementary school students (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from

 http://purl.galileo.usg.edu/uga_etd/brooks_jenny_v_200408_phd
- Burgess-Proctor, A., Hinduja, S., Patchin, J. (2010). *Victimization of adolescent girls*.

 Retrieved from http://cyberbullying.us/cyberbullying_girls_victimization.pdf
- Bussey, K., Fitzpatrick, S., & Raman, A. (2015). The role of moral disengagement & self-efficacy in cyberbullying. *Journal of School Violence*, *14*(1), 30-46. doi:10.1080/15388220.2014.954045
- Calvin, A. J., Bellmore, A., Xu, J. M., & Zhu, X. (2015). #bully: Uses of hashtags in posts about bullying on twitter. *Journal of School Violence*, *14*(1), 133-153. doi:10.1080/15388220.2014.966828
- Campbell, M., Spears, B., Slee, P., Butler, D., & Kift, S. (2012). Victims' perceptions of traditional & cyberbullying, & the psychosocial correlates of their victimisation. *Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties, 17*(3/4), 389-401. doi:10.1080/13632752.2012.704316
- Childtrends.org. (2012). Guide to effective programs for children & youth promoting alternative thinking strategies (PATHS). Retrieved from http://www.childtrends.org/?programs=promoting-alternative-thinking-strategies-

- paths
- Chism, N. V. N. (1999). *Peer review of teaching: A sourcebook*. Bolton, MA: Anker Publishing.
- Connell, N. M., Schell-Busey, N. M., Pearce, A. N., & Negro, P. (2013). Badgrlz?

 Exploring sex differences in cyberbullying behaviors. *Youth Violence & Juvenile Justice*, *12*(3), 209-228. doi:10.1177/1541204013503889
- ConsumerReports.org. (2011). Online exposure: Social networks, mobile phones, & scams can threaten your security. Retrieved from http://www.consumerreports.org/cro/magazine-archive/2011/june/electronics-computers/state-of-the-net/online-exposure/index.htm
- Corby, E. K., Campbell, M., Spears, B., Slee, P., Butler, D., & Kift, S. (2014). Students' perceptions of their own victimization: A youth voice perspective. *Journal of School Violence*. doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2014.996719
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). Research design. Qualitative, quantitative, & mixed methods approaches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2008). Educational research. Planning, conducting, & evaluating quantitative & qualitative research (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Crosslin, K., & Golman, M. (2014). "Maybe you don't want to face it"—College students' perspectives on cyberbullying. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 41, 14-20. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.09.007

- Dempsey, A. G., Sulkowski, M. L., Nichols, R., & Storch, E. A. (2009). Differences between peer victimization in cyber & physical settings & associated psychosocial adjustment in early adolescence. *Psychology in the Schools*, *46*(10), 962–972. doi:10.1002/pits.20437
- Dillon, K. P., & Bushman, B. J. (2015). Unresponsive or un-noticed?: Cyberbystander intervention in an experimental cyberbullying context. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 45, 144-150. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.12.009
- Domitrovich, C. E., Cortes, R. C., & Greenberg, M. T. (2007). Improving young children's social & emotional competence: A randomized trial of the preschool "PATHS" curriculum. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 28(2), 67-91. doi:10.1007/s10935-007-0081-0
- Dooley, J. J., Pyazalski, J., & Cross, D. (2009). Cyberbullying versus face-to-face bullying: A theoretical & conceptual review. *Journal of Psychology*, 217(4), 182-188. doi:10.1027/0044-3409.217.4.182
- Eisner, E., & Peskin, A. (1990). *Qualitative inquiry in education: The continuing debate*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Ericson, N. (2001). *Addressing the problem of juvenile bullying*. Retrieved from https://www.ncjrs.gov/txtfiles1/ojjdp/fs200127.txt
- Erdur-Baker, Ö. (2010). Cyberbullying & its correlation to traditional bullying, gender & frequent & risky usage of internet-mediated communication tools. *New Media & Society*, *12*(1), 109-125. doi:10.1177/1461444809341260
- Festl, R., & Quandt, T. (2013). Social relations & cyberbullying: The influence of individual & structural attributes on victimization & perpetration via the Internet.

- Human Communication Research, 39(1), 101-126. doi:10.1111/j.14682958.2012.01442.x
- FindLaw.com. (2012). *Cyberbullying*. Retrieved from http://criminal.findlaw.com/criminal-charges/cyber-bullying.html
- Garrity, C., Jens, K., Porter, W, Sager, N., & Short-Camilly, C. (2004a). Bully-proofing your school. *Reclaiming Children & Youth, 13*(3), 186–188. Retrieved from https://reclaimingjournal.com/sites/default/files/journal-article-pdfs/13 3 Selfert.pdf
- Garrity, C., Jens, K., Porter, W, Sager, N., & Short-Camilly, C. (2004b). *Bully-proofing* your school: A comprehensive approach for elementary schools (3rd ed.).

 Longmont, CO: Sopris West.
- Gillespie, A. A. (2006). Cyberbullying & harassment of teenagers: The legal response.

 Journal of Social Welfare & Family Law, 28(2), 123-136.

 doi:10.1080/09649060600973772
- Gladden, R. M., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Hamburger, M. E., & Lumpkin, C. D. (2014).

 *Bullying surveillance among youths: Uniform definitions for public health & recommended data elements. Version 1.0. Retrieved from
 http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/bullying-definitions-final-a.pdf
- Gratton, C., & Jones, I. (2010). *Research methods for sports studies*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Greenberg, M. T., Kusché, C. A., & Mihalic, S. F. (1998). *Blueprints for violence*prevention, book ten: Promoting alternative thinking strategies. Boulder, CO:

 Center for the Prevention of Violence.

- Gualdo, A. M. G., Hunter, S. C., Durkin, K., Arnaiz, P., & Maquilón, J. J. (2015). The emotional impact of cyberbullying: Differences in perceptions & experiences as a function of role. *Computers & Education*, 82, 228-235. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2014.11.013
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1981). *Effective evaluation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Guerra, N. G., Williams, K. R., & Sadek, S. (2011). Understanding bullying and victimization during childhood & adolescence: A mixed methods study. *Child Development*, 82(1), 295-310. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01556.x
- Hahn, R., Fuqua-Whitlet, D., Wethington, H., Lowy, J., Liberman, A., Crosby, A.,
 Dahlberg, L. (2007). The effectiveness of universal school-based programs for the prevention of violent & aggressive behavior. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5607a1.htm
- Health Resources and Services Administration. (2010a). *Best practices in bullying*prevention & intervention. Retrieved from

 http://www.education.com/reference/article/Ref_Best_Practices/
- Health Resources and Services Administration. (2010b). *The scope & impact of bullying*.

 Retrieved from http://www.education.com/reference/article/Ref_Scope_Impact/
- Healy, K., Sanders, M., & Iyer, A. (2015). Parenting practices, children's peer relationships and being bullied at school. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 24(1), 127-140. doi:10.1007/s10826-013-9820-4
- Helweg-Larsen, K., Schütt, N., & Larsen, H. B. (2012). Predictors and protective factors for adolescent Internet victimization: Results from a 2008 nationwide Danish

- youth survey. *Acta Paediatrica*, 101(5), 533-539. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2011.02587.x
- Henry, K. L., Lovegrove, P. J., Steger, M. F., Chen, P. Y., Cigularov, K. P., & Tomazic,
 R. G. (2014). The potential role of meaning in life in the relationship between
 bullying victimization and suicidal ideation. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*,
 43(2), 221-32. doi:10.1007/s10964-013-9960-2
- Hinduja, S., & Patchin, J. W. (2008). Cyberbullying: An exploratory analysis of factors related to offending and victimization. *Deviant Behavior*, 29(2), 129-156. doi:10.1080/01639620701457816
- Hinduja, S., & Patchin, J. W. (2009). *Bullying beyond the schoolyard: Preventing & responding to cyberbullying*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Hinduja, S., & Patchin, J. W. (2010). Bullying, cyberbullying, and suicide. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *14*(3), 206-221. doi:10.1080/13811118.2010.494133
- Hinduja S., & Patchin, J. W. (2013). 2010. Retrieved from http://cyberbullying.us/2010-data/
- Hinduja, S., & Patchin, J. W. (2015). *State cyberbullying laws. A brief review of state cyberbullying laws & policies*. Retrieved from http://www.cyberbullying.us/Bullying-and-Cyberbullying-Laws.pdf
- Horne, A., Bartoloucci, C., & Newman-Carlson, D. (2003). *Bully Busters: A teacher's manual for helping bullies, victims, & bystanders. Grades K 5.* Champaign, IL: Research Press.
- Howard, A., Landau, S., & Pryor, J. (2014). Peer bystanders to bullying: Who wants to play with the victim? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 42(2), 265-276.

- doi:10.1007/s10802-013-9770-8
- Ipsos. (2012). One in ten (12%) parents online, around the world say their child has been cyberbullied, 24% say they know of a child who has experienced same in their community. Retrieved from http://www.ipsos-na.com/news-polls/pressrelease.aspx?id=5462
- Jacobs, N. L., Völlink, T., Dehue, F., & Lechner, L. (2014). Online Pestkoppenstoppen: Systematic and theory-based development of a web-based tailored intervention for adolescent cyberbully victims to combat and prevent cyberbullying. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 1-33. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-396
- Jäger, T., Amado, J., Matos, A., & Pessoa, T. (2010). Analysis of experts' and trainers' views on cyberbullying. *Australian Journal of Guidance & Counselling, 20*(2), 169-181. Retrieved from http://www.agca.com.au/article.php?id=5
- Jenkins, L. N., & Demaray, M. K. (2015). Indirect effects in the peer victimization-academic achievement relation: The role of academic self-concept and gender.

 *Psychology in the Schools, 52(3), 235-247. doi:10.1002/pits.21824
- Jernigan, K. B. (2007). *Juvenile minority sensitivity training: Effects of juvenile bullying*.

 Retrieved from http://www.docstoc.com/docs/114678158/Juvenile-Minority-Sensitivity-Training
- Jones, S., & Fox S. (2009). Pew internet project data memo: Generations online in 2009.

 Washington, DC: Pew Research Center. Retrieved from

 http://www.pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2009/PIP_Generations_2009.

 pdf
- Juvonen, J., & Graham, S. (2014). Bullying in schools: The power of bullies and the

- plight of victims. *Annual Review of Psychology, 65*, 159-185. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115030
- Kann, L., Kinchen, S., Shanklin, S. L., Flint, K. H., Hawkins, J., Harris, W. A., . . . Zaza, S. (2013). *Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance—United States*, 2013. Retrieved http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/ss/ss6304.pdf
- Katz-Wise, S. L., & Hyde, J. S. (2012). Victimization experiences of lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Sex Research*, 49(2-3), 142–167. doi:10.1080/00224499.2011.637247
- Key, J. P. (1997). Qualitative research: Research design in occupational education.
 Retrieved from
 http://www.okstate.edu/ag/agedcm4h/academic/aged5980a/5980/newpage16.htm
- Klomek, A., Sourander, A., & Gould, M. (2010). The association of suicide and bullying in childhood to young adulthood: A review of cross-sectional and longitudinal research findings. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *55*(5), 282-288. Retrieved from http://publications.cpa-apc.org/browse/sections/0
- Kowalski, R. M., Giumetti, G. W., Schroeder, A. N., & Lattanner, M. R. (2014). Bullying in the digital age: A critical review and meta-analysis of cyberbullying research among youth. *Psychological Bulletin*, *140*(4), 1073-1137. doi:10.1037/a0035618
- Kowalski, R. M., & Limber, S. P. (2013). Psychological, physical, and academic correlates of cyberbullying and traditional bullying. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 53(1), S13-S20. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.09.018
- Kowalski, R. M., Limber, S., Limber, S. P., & Agatston, P. W. (2012). *Cyberbullying: Bullying in the digital age.* Malden, MA: John Wiley & Sons.

- Law, D. M., Shapka, J. D., & Olson, B. F. (2010). To control or not to control? Parenting behaviours and adolescent online aggression. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(6), 1651-1656. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.06.013
- Lenhart, A., Ling, R., Campbell, S., & Purcell, K. (2010). Teens and mobile phones. *Pew Internet & American Life Project*. Retrieved from http://pewinternet.org/~/media//Files/Reports/2010/PIP-Teens-and-Mobile-2010-with-topline.pdf
- Li, Q. (2008). A cross-cultural comparison of adolescents' experience related to cyberbullying. *Educational Research*, *50*(3), 223-234. doi:10.1080/00131880802309333
- Limber, S. P. (2002). *Bullying among children & youth*. Proceedings of the Educational Forum on Adolescent Health: Youth bullying. Chicago, IL: American Medical Association. Retrieved from http://www.ama-assn.org/ama1/pub/upload/mm/39/youthbullying.pdf
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Linse, A. R. (2006). Classroom observation checklist. Peer-to-peer protocols: Faculty peer evaluation of teaching. Paper presented at the Winter Teaching & Learning Conference, Philadelphia, PA. Retrieved from http://www.temple.edu/tlc/resources/handouts/peer_review/Classroom%20Observ ation%20Checklist.pdf
- Lunenburg, F. C. (2010). The decision making process. *National Forum of Educational Administration & Supervision Journal*, 27(4), 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.tcrecord.org/Journal.asp?JournalId=36

- Ma, H. K. (2011). Internet addiction and antisocial internet behavior of adolescents. *The Scientific World Journal*, 11, 2187-2196. doi:10.1100/2011/308631
- Mancilla-Caceres, J. F., Pu, W., Amir, E., & Espelage, D. (2012). A computer-in-the-loop approach for detecting bullies in the classroom. In S. J. Yang, A. M.
 Greenberg, & M. Endsley (Eds.), Social Computing, Behavioral Cultural
 Modeling & Prediction Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Vol. 7227, pp. 139-146). doi:10.1007/978-3-642-29047-3_17
- Mark, L., & Ratliffe, K. T. (2011). Cyber worlds: New playgrounds for bullying.

 Computers in the Schools, 28(2), 92-116. doi:10.1080/07380569.2011.575753
- Marshall, M. N. (1996). Sampling for qualitative research. *Family Practice*, *13*(6), 522-525. doi:10.1093/fampra/13.6.522
- Merriam, S. B. (2003). *Qualitative research & case study applications in education*. New York, NY: Jossey-Bass.
- Mishna, F., Khoury-Kassabri, M., Gadalla, T., & Daciuk, J. (2012). Risk factors for involvement in cyber bullying: Victims, bullies and bully–victims. *Children & Youth Services Review*, *34*(1), 63-70. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.08.032
- MTV & Associated Press. (2011). Executive summary: 2011 MTV-AP digital abuse study. Retrieved from http://www.athinline.org/pdfs/MTV-AP_2011_Research_Study-Exec_Summary.pdf
- Nakamoto, J., & Schwartz, D. (2010). Is peer victimization associated with academic achievement? A meta-analytic review. *Social Development*, *19*(2), 221-224. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9507.2009.00539.x
- National Center for School Engagement. (2012). Bullyproof your school. Retrieved from

- http://www.schoolengagement.org/index.cfm/Bully%20 Proof%20 Your%20 Schoolengagement.org/index.cfm/Bully%20 Proof%20 Your%20 YourW20 YourW2
- National Crime Prevention Council. (2012). *What is cyberbullying?* Retrieved from http://www.ncpc.org/topics/cyberbullying/what-is-cyberbullying
- National Crime Prevention Council & Bureau of Justice Assistance. (2006). *Bullying:*What's new & what to do. Retrieved from

 http://www.ncpc.org/resources/files/ppt/bullying-whats-new-and-what-to-do.ppt
- Newman-Carlson, D., Horne, A. M., & Bartolomucci, C. L. (2000). *Bully Busters: A Teacher's Manual for Helping Bullies, Victims, & Bystanders:* [Grades 6-8].

 Research Press.
- Newman-Carlson, D., & Horne, A. M. (2004). Bully busters: A psychoeducational intervention for reducing bullying behavior in middle school students. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 82(3), 259-267. doi:10.1002/j.15566678.2004.tb00309.x
- Nickerson, A. B., Aloe, A. M., Livingston, J. A., & Feeley, T. H. (2014). Measurement of the bystander intervention model for bullying and sexual harassment. *Journal of Adolescence*, *37*(4), 391-400. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2014.03.003
- O'Brien, N., & Moules, T. (2010). The impact of cyber-bullying on young people's mental health. Retrieved from
 - http://www.ncb.org.uk/media/111007/cyberbullying_report.pdf
- Olweus, D. (1991). Bully/victim problems among schoolchildren: Basic facts and effects of a school based intervention program. In K. H. Rubin & D. J. Pepler (Eds.), *The development & treatment of childhood aggression* (pp. 411-448). Retrieved from

- http://books.google.com/
- Olweus, D. (1993). *Bullying at school: What we know & what we can do*. New York, NY: Blackwell.
- Olweus, D. (1994). Bullying at school: Basic facts and effects of a school-based intervention program. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, *35*(7), 1171-1190. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.1994.tb01229.x
- Olweus, D. (2001). Peer harassment: A critical analysis and some important issues. In J. Juvonen and S. Graham (Eds.), *Peer Harassment in School*, (pp. 3-20). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Olweus, D. (2005). A useful evaluation design and effects of the Olweus Bullying Prevention Program. *Psychology Crime & Law, 11*(4), 389-402. doi:10.1080/10683160500255471
- Olweus, D. (2012). Cyberbullying: An overrated phenomenon? *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *9*(5), 520-538. doi:10.1080/17405629.2012.682358
- Olweus, D., & Limber, S. P. (2010). Bullying in school: Evaluation and dissemination of the Olweus Bullying Prevention Program. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 80(1), 124-134. doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01015.x
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, A. N. (2007). Sampling designs in qualitative research:

 Making the sampling process more public. *The Qualitative Report*, *12*(2).

 Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR12-2/onwuegbuzie1.pdf
- Pabian, S., & Vandebosch, H. (2015). An investigation of short-term longitudinal associations between social anxiety and victimization and perpetration of traditional bullying and cyberbullying. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 1-12.

- doi:10.1007/s10964-015-0259-3
- Patchin, J. W., & Hinduja, S. (2006). Bullies move beyond the schoolyard. A preliminary look at cyberbullying. *Youth Violence & Juvenile Justice*, *4*(2), 148-169. doi:10.1177/1541204006286288
- Patchin, J. W., & Hinduja, S. (2010). Cyberbullying & self-esteem. *Journal of School Health*, 80(12), 614-621. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2010.00548.x
- Patchin, J. W., & Hinduja, S. (2012). Remarks to the Minnesota Task Force on the Prevention of Bullying. Retrieved from http://cyberbullying.us/tag/cyberbullying-research/
- Pew Research Center. (2014). *Online harassment*. Retrieved from http://www.pewinternet.org/2014/10/22/online-harassment/
- Pieschl, S., Kuhlmann, C., & Porsch, T. (2015). Beware of publicity! Perceived distress of negative cyber incidents and implications for defining cyberbullying. *Journal of School Violence*, *14*(1), 111-132. doi:10.1080/15388220.2014.971363
- Pugh, R., & Chitiyo, M. (2012). The problem of bullying in schools and the promise of positive behaviour supports. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 12(2), 47-53. doi:10.1111/j.1471-3802.2011.01204.x
- Raskauskas, J., & Stoltz, A. D. (2007). Involvement in traditional and electronic bullying among adolescents. *Developmental Psychology*, *43*, 564-575. doi:10.1037/00121649.43.3.564
- Reynolds, B. M, & Juvonen, J. (2010). The role of early maturation, perceived popularity, and rumors in the emergence of internalizing symptoms among adolescent girls. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 40(11), 1407–1422.

- doi:10.1007/s10964-010-9619-1
- Rice, E., Petering, R., Rhoades, H., Winetrobe, H., Goldbach, J., Plant, A., . . . Kordic, T. (2015). Cyberbullying Perpetration and victimization among middle-school students. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(3), e66-e72. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302393
- Robers, S., Kemp, J., & Truman, J. (2013). Indicators of school crime and safety: 2012.

 NCES Report No. 2013-036/NCJ 241446. Retrieve from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED543705.pdf
- Roberto, A. J., Eden, J., Savage, M. W., Ramos-Salazar, L., & Deiss, D. M. (2014).

 Prevalence and predictors of cyberbullying perpetration by high school seniors.

 Communication Quarterly, 62(1), 97-114. doi:10.1080/01463373.2013.860906
- Roland, E. (1989). A system oriented strategy against bullying. In E. Roland and E. Munthe (Eds.), *Bullying: An international perspective*. London: David Fulton.
- Rubin, A., & Babbie, E. R. (2010). *Research methods for social work*. Belmont, CA: Cengage.
- Salmivalli, C., Voeten, M., & Poskiparta, E. (2011). Bystanders matter: Associations between reinforcing, defending, and the frequency of bullying behavior in classrooms. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology, 40*(5), 668-676. doi:10.1080/15374416.2011.597090
- Schultze-Krumbholz, A., Jäkel, A., Schultze, M., & Scheithauer, H. (2012). Emotional and behavioural problems in the context of cyberbullying: A longitudinal study among German adolescents. *Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties, 17*(3-4), 329-345. doi:10.1080/13632752.2012.704317

- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22, 63–75. Retrieved from http://www.angelfire.com/theforce/shu_cohort_viii/images/Trustworthypaper.pdf
- Shure, B. M. (2012). *I Can Problem Solve for Schools*. Retrieved from http://www.thinkingpreteen.com/icps.htm
- Siegle, D. (2010). Cyberbullying and sexting: Technology abuses of the 21st century.

 Gifted Child Today, 33(2), 14-16. Retrieved from http://journals.prufrock.com/

 IJP/c.abs/gifted-child-today/volume33/issue2/article994
- Silverman, D. (2011). *Qualitative research issues of theory, method, & practice* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Slonje, R., & Smith, P. K. (2008). Cyberbullying: Another main type of bullying? Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 49(2), 147-154.

 doi:10.1111/j.14679450.2007.00611.x
- Slonje, R., Smith, P. K., & Frisén, A. (2013). The nature of cyberbullying, and strategies for prevention. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(1), 26-32. doi:1016/j.chb.2012.05.024
- Smith, P. K., & Sharp, S. (1994). *School bullying: Insights and perspectives*. London: Routledge.
- Smith, P. K., Mahdavi, J., Carvalho, M., Fisher, S., Russell, S., & Tippett, N. (2008).
 Cyberbullying: Its nature and impact in secondary school pupils. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, 49(4), 376-385.
 doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01846.x
- Son, E., Parish, S. L., Peterson, N. A. (2012). National prevalence of peer victimization

among young children with disabilities in the United States. *Children & Youth Services Review*, *34*, 1540–45.

doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2012.04.014

- Sourander, A., Brunstein Klomek, A., Ikonen, M., Lindroos, J., Luntamo, T., Koskelainen, M., Ristkari, T., & Helenius, H. (2010). Psychosocial risk factors associated with cyberbullying among adolescents: A population-based study.

 Archives of General Psychiatry, 67(7), 720-728.

 doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.79
- Stavrinides, P., Nikiforou, M., & Georgiou, S. (2015). Do mothers know? Longitudinal associations between parental knowledge, bullying, and victimization. *Journal of Social & Personal Relationships*, *32*(2), 180-196.

 doi:10.1177/0265407514525889
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). *Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures & techniques*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage
- stopbullying.gov. (n.d.a). *Bullying definition*. Retrieved from http://www.stopbullying .gov/what-is-bullying/definition/index.html
- stopbullying.gov. (n.d.b). *Prevention at school*. Retrieved from http://www.stopbullying .gov/prevention/at-school/index.html
- Swartz, M. K. (2009). Cyberbullying: An extension of the schoolyard. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 23(5), 281-282. doi:10.1016/j.pedhc.2009.06.005
- Swearer, S. M., Wang, C., Maag, J. W., Siebecker, A. B., & Frerichs, L. J. (2012).

 Understanding the bullying dynamic among students in special and general education. *Journal of School Psychology*, *50*(2012), 503–520.

- doi:10.1016/j.jsp.2012.04.001
- Tarter, C. J., & Hoy, W. K. (1998). Toward a contingency theory of decision making. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 36(3), 212-228.

 doi:10.1108/09578239810214687.
- Tokunaga, R.S. (2010). Following you home from school: A critical review and synthesis of research on cyberbullying victimization. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *26*, 277–287. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2009.11.014
- Tomşa, R., Jenaro, C., Campbell, M., & Neacşu, D. (2013). Student's experiences with traditional bullying and cyberbullying: Findings from a Romanian sample.

 Procedia-Social & Behavioral Sciences, 78, 586-590.

 doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.04.356
- Trochim, W. M. K. (2006a). *Qualitative measures*. Retrieved from http://www.social researchmethods.net/kb/qual.php
- Trochim, W. (2006b). *Qualitative validity*. Retrieved from http://www.socialresearch methods.net/kb/qualval.php
- Turner, H. A., Finkelhor, D., Hamby, S. L., Shattuck, A., & Omrod, R. K. (2011).

 Specifying type and location of peer victimization in a national sample of children and youth. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 40, 1052–1067. doi:10.1007/s10964-011-9639-5
- Vandebosch, H., & Van Cleemput, K. (2009). Cyberbullying among youngsters: Profiles of bullies and victims. *New Media & Society, 11*(8), 1349-1371. doi:10_.1177/1461444809341263
- Verlinden, M., Tiemeier, H., Veenstra, R., Mieloo, C. L., Jansen, W., Jaddoe, V. W., . . .

- Jansen, P. W. (2014) Television viewing through ages 2-5 years and bullying involvement in early elementary school. *BMC Public Health*, *14*, 157-70. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-157
- Verlinden, M., Veenstra, R., Ringoot, A. P., Jansen, P. W., Raat, H., Hofman, A., . . .

 Tiemeier, H. (2014). Detecting bullying in early elementary school with a

 computerized peer-nomination instrument. *Psychological Assessment*, 26(2), 628-641. doi:641.10.1037/a0035571
- Waasdorp, T. E., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2015). The overlap between cyberbullying and traditional bullying. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. Advanced online publication. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.12.002
- Wachs, S. (2012). Moral disengagement and emotional and social difficulties in bullying and cyberbullying: Differences by participant role. *Emotional & Behavioural Difficulties*, 17(3/4), 347-360. doi:10.1080/13632752.2012.704318
- Wade, A., & Beran, T. (2011). Cyberbullying: The new era of bullying. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 26(1), 44-61. Retrieved from doi:10.1177/0829573510396318
- Walker, C., Sockman, B., & Koehn, S. (2011). An exploratory study of cyberbullying with undergraduate university students. *Tech Trends*, *55*(2), 31–38. doi:10.1007/s11528-011-0481-0
- Wang, C., Berry, B., & Swearer, S. M. (2013). The critical role of school climate in effective bullying prevention. *Theory into Practice*, *52*(4), 296-302. doi:10.1080/00405841.2013.829735
- Wang, J., & Iannotti, R. J. (2012). Bullying among US Adolescents. *Prevention*

- Researcher, 19(3), 3-6. Retrieved from http://www.nxtbook.com/nxtbooks/integratedresearchsrvcs/pr 201209/#/8
- Wang, J., Iannotti, R. J., & Luk, J. W. (2012). Patterns of adolescent bullying behaviors: Physical, verbal, exclusion, rumor, and cyber. *Journal of School Psychology*, 50(4), 521-534. doi:10.1016/j.jsp.2012.03.004
- Wang, J., Iannotti, R. J., & Nansel, T. R. (2009). School bullying among adolescents in the United States: Physical, verbal, relational, and cyber. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *45*(4), 368-375. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.03.021
- Wang, J., Nansel, T. R., & Iannotti, R. J. (2011). Cyber and traditional bullying:

 Differential association with depression. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 48(4),
 415-417. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.07.012
- Weathers, M. R., & Hopson, M. C. (2015). "I define what hurts me": A co-cultural theoretical analysis of communication factors related to digital dating abuse. *Howard Journal of Communications*, 26(1), 95-113. doi:10.1080/10646175

 .2015.988475
- White House. (2011). Remarks by the president and first lady at the White House conference on bullying prevention. Retrieved from http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2011/03/10/remarks-president-and-first-lady-white-house-conference-bullying-prevent
- Whittaker, E., & Kowalski, R. M. (2015). Cyberbullying via social media. *Journal Of School Violence*, *14*(1), 11-29. doi:10.1080/15388220.2014.949377
- Wingate, V. S., Minney, J. A., & Guadagno, R. E. (2013). Sticks and stones may break your bones, but words will always hurt you: A review of cyberbullying. *Social*

- Influence, 8(2-3), 87-106. doi:10.1080/15534510.2012.730491
- Yang, A., & Salmivalli, C. (2015). Effectiveness of the KiVa anti bullying programme on bully-victims, bullies and victims. *Educational Research*, 57(1), 80-90. doi:10.1080/00131881.2014.983724
- Ybarra, M. L., Mitchell, K. J., & Espelage, D. L. (2012). Comparisons of bully and unwanted sexual experiences online and offline among a national sample of youth. In Ö. Özdemir (Ed.), *Complementary Pediatrics*, pp. 204-216. doi:10.5772/33532
- Ybarra, M. L., Mitchell, K. J., Finkelhor, D., & Wolak, J. (2007). Internet prevention messages: Targeting the right online behaviors. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *161*(2), 138. doi:10.1001/archpedi.161.2.138D
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design & methods (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Preliminary Interview Questions (Telephone)

Date of interview:	
Interview start time:	Interview end time:
Participant number:	

Demographic Information

- 1. Years working at the elementary school level?
- 2. Years at this school?
- 3. Years of experience as lead principle of this school?
- 4. Years with knowledge of the Bully Busters program?
- 5. Years using the *Bully Busters* program at your school?

Primary Interview Questions (Face-to-Face)

Date of interview:	
Interview start time:	Interview end time:
Participant number:	

Background questions:

- 1. How do you define bullying?
- 2. How do you define cyberbullying?

Implementation:

- 3. When you implemented the Bully Busters program, what procedure(s) did you follow?
- 4. How often do present the material to the classrooms?
- 5. What steps do you follow when presenting the material?

Advantages:

- 6. What do you feel are the strengths of the program?
- 7. How would you rate this program in its effectiveness with bully behavior?

Shortcomings and Drawbacks:

- 8. What do you feel are the weaknesses of the program?
- 9. What suggestions do you have to make this program better?

Effectiveness Against Cyberbullying:

10. What are your perceptions of the Bully Busters program that would make it effective (or not) as a program to prevent cyberbullying?

Incident reports

11. When I invited you to participate in my study, you agreed to provide for me a summary of incident reports for the prior and current school year in particular with regard to bullying and cyberbullying. Are you still willing to share that information with me now?

Appendix B: Principal Observation Checklist

Observation Checklist

Participant #:	Date:	Time:
No. Students:Bully Busters Lesson	Grade level:	-
Title:		
Variety and Pacing of Instructor:	ion	
uses more than one form o		
pauses after asking questic		
accepts students responsesdraws non-participating stu	udents into activities/discue	ssions
draws non-participating structure prevents specific students helps students extend their	from dominating activities,	discussions/
helps students extend their	responses	
guides the direction of disc	cussion	
mediates conflict or difference demonstrates active listeni	ences of opinion	
provides explicit directions		rationale)
duration (allows sufficient		
specifies how learning task		
provides opportunities and	time for students to practi	ce
Examples of instructor actions or	r behaviors that support the	e ratings above.
Organization		
The instructor:		
arrives on time	als or objectives for the ale	ag gaggian
provides students with good provides an outline or organical provides an outline or organical provides are students.		
knows how to use the educ	cational technology needed	for the class
locates class materials as n	needed	
makes transitional stateme follows the stated structure	_	S
conveys the purpose of cla		
completes the scheduled to		
summarizes at the end of c	class (or prompts students t	o do so)
Examples of instructor actions or	r behaviors that support the	e ratings above.

Presentation Skills

The instructor:
is audible to all students
articulates words so that they are understandable to students, and/or
visually represents words that might be difficult for students to hear
varies the tone and pitch of voice for emphasis and interest
speaks at a pace that permits students to understand and take notes
establishes and maintains eye contact
avoids over-reliance on reading content from notes, slides, or texts
avoids distracting mannerisms
uses visual aids effectively (when appropriate to reinforce a concept)
effectively uses the classroom space

Examples of instructor actions or behaviors that support the ratings above.

Appendix C: Consent Form

Informed Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study titled "Principals Perceptions of the Bully Busters Program in Combating Cyberbullying in Elementary Schools". The researcher is inviting you because you meet two qualifications: (1) You are an elementary school principal; (2) You are currently utilizing the Bully Busters program in your school. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" which allows you to understand this study before deciding to participate. A researcher named Sheila Cuffy, who is a doctoral student at Walden University, is conducting this study.

Background Information

The purpose of this study is to gain insight into the principals' perceptions of the Bully Busters program in elementary schools that utilize this program for its effectiveness (or lack of) in combating cyberbullying.

Procedures

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to participate in:

- (1) 15 minute phone interview
- (1) 1 to 2 hour personal interview
- (1) 1 to 2 hour personal observation while presenting the Bully Busters program to students
- (1) 1 to 2 hours preparing data from previous incident reports on bully/cyberbully incidents that occurred in your school

Here are some sample questions:

How do you address cyberbullying when it occurs at your school? What do you feel are the strengths of the Bully Busters program?

Voluntary Nature of the Study

This study is purely voluntary in nature. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you choose to be in the study. No one will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to join the study now, you can still change your mind later. You may stop at any time.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as fatigue, stress, or becoming upset. However, being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing. The benefits of this study are that it is likely to yield useful insights into effective cyberbullying prevention techniques utilizing the Bully Busters program that facilitate in combating cyberbullying.

Payment

No payments, gifts, or reimbursements will be given to participants in this research study.

Privacy

Any information you provide will be kept strictly confidential. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. Data will be kept secure in a locked file cabinet that the researcher has sole possession of. Data will be kept for a period of at least five years, as required by the university.

Contacts and Questions

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher via phone @ (xxx) xxx-xxxx and/or email xxxxxx.xxxx@xxxxxxxxxxx. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University representative who can discuss this with you. Her phone number is 1-xxx-xxx-xxxx. The researcher will give you a copy of this form to keep. Walden University's approval number for this study is 03-14-14-0154711 and it expires on March 13, 2015.

Statement of Consent

I have read the above information and I feel I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement. By signing below, I understand that I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Printed name of Participant	
Date of consent	
Participants Signature	
Researchers Signature	

